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CORPORATE PROFILE
Troy Resources NL, dual-listed on the Australian and Toronto Stock Exchanges (code: TRY), is a profitable, dividendpaying junior gold producer headquartered in Perth, Western Australia, with operations in Brazil and Argentina.
The Company has forged a proven record of fast-track mine development, low cost operations, strategic acquisitions
and exploration discoveries.

Casposo Plant, Argentina

Kamila Pit Operations, Casposo Argentina

Mamão Plant, Andorinhas Mine Brazil

HIGHLIGHTS
Low cost production

Paid over A$34 million to
shareholders through 11 fully
franked cash dividends

Strong balance sheet

New High Grade Resource Kamila Southeast Discovery

Excellent brownfields
exploration portfolio

Doubling exploration budget to
A$15m in FY2012

THREE YEAR SUMMARY

Financial Years
Ended 30 June

Operations

2011
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2009

61,453
A$855
US$741
61,453
A$855
US$741
A$1,234
US$1,073
-

61,832
A$673
US$496
61,832
A$673
US$496
A$1,172
US$906
-
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($ million)

71,614
A$561
US$554
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A$624
US$624
A$1,394
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US$36
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8
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Cash Costs per oz
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Silver Produced
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Sales Revenue
Profit (loss) before tax
Net Profit (loss) after tax (attributable)
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Dividends Paid
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Development Projects acquired
Cash and Bank deposits
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Cover Photo: Snow Covered Casposo Plant, Argentina
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CHAIRMAN’s
REVIEW

Dear Shareholders,
Your Company has made significant
strides this year in its objective of
becoming a significant geographically
diversified gold producer. In May this
year we had the official opening of the
new Casposo mine in the San Juan
province of Argentina. It was an event
which was attended by over 500 local
community members, mine workers
and their families, and regional and
federal government employees and
dignitaries. The full Board had one
of its Directors’ meetings at the
mine to coincide with the event,
and speaking on behalf of the Board
we were delighted in the progress
and reception to the various local
initiatives and support programmes
that management has implemented
as part of our broader approach
to becoming a member of the
community. Our approach to social
contribution and the environment has
been well received. The mine itself
is a tribute to the team that put it
together at a significantly lower cost
than originally planned, and although
some technical issues have taken
time to resolve, this is not unusual
in bringing on a new operation in a
difficult environment.

I would also like to highlight the
outstanding achievements of the team
at the Andorinhas mine in Brazil.
The performance of the mine with its
exemplary safety record and better
than budget production is a credit
to the manager and his team. Their
motto of becoming the best small
mine in Brazil certainly rings true
and has demonstrated outstanding
commitment from all the staff. This
performance has been achieved at
a time when all staff were dealing
with real safety concerns following
the armed hold up at the mine in
February 2010.
Additionally I would like to recognise
the performance of all staff and
management of the Company
and my fellow Directors. Their
approach to the issues that have
arisen and preparedness to travel
to difficult locations whenever
required is a dedication that should
be acknowledged. I believe the
Managing Director and his team are
dealing well with the challenges of an
internationally diversified company
whilst keeping the cost base down.

It is pleasing to note that the
Company has been able to reward
shareholders with its 11th year of
consecutive dividends.
I thank you our shareholders for your
continued support and ensure you
that your Board and Management
will continue to strive to improve
your Company’s asset base whilst
supporting community programmes
in a safe and environmentally
responsible fashion.
Yours sincerely,

David Dix
Non-Executive Chairman

YOUR COMPANY HAS MADE SIGNIFICANT STRIDES THIS
YEAR IN ITS OBJECTIVE OF BECOMING A SIGNIFICANT
GEOGRAPHICALLY DIVERSIFIED GOLD PRODUCER.
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Casposo Mine Opening May 2011

Andorinhas Market Garden Propagating Mahogany Trees

Kamila Pit Operations Casposo Argentina

Casposo Water Sampling

Reinarda Nursery Brazil

Official Casposo Mine Opening May 2011 (Left to Right); The Governor of San Juan, Ing. Jose Luis Gioja;
The Federal Secretary of Mines, Ing. Jorge Mayoral; The Deputy Governor of San Juan; Ruben Unac

Guanaco Native Fauna Casposo
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CEO’s

REPORT
The 2011 financial year
was one of the most
significant in Troy’s
history. Gold production
increased 17% to
71,614 ounces, and unit
cash costs fell 25% to
US$554/oz net of silver
credits, enabling us to
record a profit of $14.6m
and pay our 11th fully
franked cash dividend.
The significance however
was more in terms of the
evolution of the Company
into a truly multinational,
mid-tier gold producer.
The Sandstone mine in Western
Australia, which historically has
been the backbone of the Company,
was put on care and maintenance
in the September quarter of 2010.
Sandstone produced over 500,000
ounces of gold for Troy during more
than ten years of production and
funded Troy’s expansion into
South America.

Not long after Sandstone closed,
we poured first gold at Casposo,
our new flagship gold and silver
mine in Argentina.
With two operating mines, both
in South America, this is the first
time going forward all of the
Company’s production will be from
outside Australia.
Casposo has been an excellent
acquisition for the Company. When
it reaches nameplate capacity, it
is forecast to be one of the lowest
cost producing mines in the world
due to its very high silver credits.
Ken Nilsson and his team did an
outstanding job in building Casposo in
just 16 months from first earthworks
to first production, and in line with
the initial pre-production capital
budget of just US$45m.
Although ramp up to budget
throughput has been slower and more
difficult than planned, challenged
by commissioning of a complex flow
sheet and extreme weather events,
we are confident Casposo will be a low
cost producer and a cornerstone of the
Troy portfolio into the next decade.

One of the most pleasing aspects of
the year was the record performance
at Andorinhas which saw gold
production increase 55% to 49,099
ounces and cash costs fall 18% to
US$519/oz. We highlighted in last
year’s annual report the changes we
were making to the mining methods at
the site and how this, combined with
improving grades and widths at depth,
would see improved performance.
The entire team on site has done
an excellent job, under the capable
leadership of Andrew Storrie.
Without doubt one of the best ways
for a mining company to create value
is through brownfields exploration
success. When we acquired Casposo
we were confident that we would add
ounces to the Reserve and Resources
given the project’s highly prospective
geology and numerous drill targets.
We were aware however that to a
certain degree, success in exploration
requires a mixture of good science,
hard work, diligence, and a fair share
of luck.
The team of Troy’s geoscientists both
on site and in our Perth office headed
by Peter Doyle, Troy’s VP Exploration
and Business Development, delivered
those first three qualities in spades.

Casposo Plant, Argentina
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One of the most pleasing aspects of the year was
the record performance at Andorinhas which saw
gold production increase 55% to 49,099 ounces and
cash costs fall 18% to US$519/oz.

Troy Board and
Snr Management
Brazil May 2011:
(Left to Right)
David Sadgrove;
Natanael Lima;
Augusto Mol;
Gordon Chambers;
David Dix (Chairman);
Frederick Grimwade.

STRATEGY AND GROWTH
To be honest we were pleasantly
surprised with the speed of our
success at Casposo, probably a sign
we also got our quota of luck. The new
discovery of the very high grade Kamila
Southeast Extension is arguably the
most important exploration success
in the Company’s history. It has the
potential to not only lift and smooth the
production profile at Casposo, but also
to extend the mine life and enable Troy
to maintain its production profile above
100,000 ounces gold equivalent per
year for longer than currently forecast.
Importantly this zone remains open
along strike, and the structure extends
for over a kilometre to the southeast
so there is very good potential for
continued exploration success over
the coming year.
In addition to the potential of the
Kamila Extension, we have numerous
prospective targets that will keep the
drills busy for years to come, and so
have doubled the Casposo exploration
budget to $15m for the 2012 financial
year to methodically test the known
targets and complete geophysical
surveys to identify new drill targets
under cover.

Undoubtedly we finished the 2011
financial year in a stronger position
than we started it, and we are well
positioned to continue to grow
the Company.
We enter the 2012 financial year with:
• Production forecast to exceed
100,000 ounces of gold;
• The longest forecast mine life
in the Company’s history;
• A high grade exploration discovery
that we expect will significantly
extend the Casposo mine life;
• A robust balance sheet;
• Increasing exposure to both gold
and silver when both markets
are booming;
• Improving share liquidity and
increasing market interest,
particularly in North America; and
• A share price at record highs.

Our Mission remains simple and clear
– to create value for shareholders.
We continued to deliver on this
mission over the 2011 financial
year, with a 40% appreciation in
the Company’s share price, which
by September was trading at record
highs. We were also proud to have
paid our 11th fully franked cash
dividend during the period
under review.
In addition to investing heavily in
brownfields exploration, we have a
close relationship with the University
of Western Australia’s Centre for
Exploration Targeting (CET) and are
working with them on a two year
program focused on finding our next
greenfields exploration projects in
South America.
We also actively and routinely review
potential merger and acquisition
opportunities. It is certainly my hope
that within the next 24 months we
will identify Troy’s next mine, be it
through an acquisition or merger.

5 < TROY RESOURCES NL | ANNUAL REPORT 2011

CEO’s REPORT CONTINUED
Health, Safety Environment and Community
Troy is committed to the highest standards with respect to the health and safety
of our employees, the environment in which we operate, and the communities
in which we live and work. We are proud of our very positive impact on our local
communities, with each of our mines determining the most appropriate way
they can assist, support and work with the people in their respective regions.
We were particularly pleased that we worked the entire year with only one
minor lost time accident to a Company employee.

Outlook

Acknowledgements

The external economic environment
is in a state of immense volatility.
The Global Financial Crisis (GFC)
of 2008 crystallised the fact
that large parts of both private
enterprise and individuals in the
advanced western economies had
over extended themselves on cheap
debt and inflated asset prices.
The multiple government rescue
packages and bailouts around the
world most probably avoided a
severe economic depression but
in doing so, moved the liabilities
to state balance sheets.

I would like to offer my sincerest
thanks to all of Troy’s employees,
contractors and service providers who
have worked so hard over the last year
to deliver the results we have achieved.
To the government and community
officials that help us work within their
regions, thank you too for your support.

The enormity of the debt burden on
government finances, that in many
cases were already unsustainable,
has called into question if there
is a viable solution other than the
devaluing of all assets – importantly
including fiat currencies. This
invariably has seen a flight to
safe haven assets and some of
the biggest winners have been the
precious metals, gold and silver.
Your Company is well positioned
to navigate these turbulent times
with a robust balance sheet and
increasing exposure to low cost
gold and silver production. While
we cannot predict how the future
will unfold, the Directors and
Management of Troy Resources
are committed to delivering on
their mission of creating value
for shareholders.

I would also like to thank my
fellow Directors for their support
and guidance during the year, in
particular Mr David Dix who became
Troy Chairman during the year. I
would also like to thank Mr John
Dow who stood down as Chairman at
the 2010 AGM and retired from the
Board in March of this year. John was
a great servant to Troy’s shareholders
and played a key role in leading the
Company to where it is today.
Finally I would like to thank you,
our shareholders, for your continued
confidence and support in your
Company and its leadership.

I would like
to offer my
sincerest
thanks to
all of Troy’s
employees,
contractors
and service
providers who
have worked
so hard over
the last year
to deliver the
results we have
achieved. To the
government
and community
officials that
help us work
within their
regions, thank
you too for
your support.

Paul Benson
Chief Executive Officer
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Troy Board & Snr Management Casposo Site Visit 2011. Left to
Right: Peter Doyle; Paul Benson (CEO); Gordon Chambers; John
Jones; David Sadgrove; Andrew Storrie.

Kamila Pit Operations Casposo Argentina

High Tension Power Cables - Strung Mainline East of Mine
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OPERATIONS
ARGENTINA

CASPOSO OPERATIONS
(Troy 100% through Troy Resources
Argentina Ltd)

Construction
and Operations
In FY2011 Troy successfully
commissioned the Casposo silvergold operations in San Juan Province
Argentina, just 16 months after
the commencement of earthworks,
with the first “test pour” of doré in
November 2010.
Importantly, the project was delivered
in line with the initial budget, which at
US$45m was just over half the capital
forecast by the previous owners.
The processing plant has a relatively
complex flow sheet due to the very
high silver grades which require a
large volume of tanks, thickeners
and clarifier to cater for the 72 hour
leach residence time. Pregnant liquors
then flow to a Merrill Crowe plant
and refinery to ultimately recover the
precious metals, producing a silverrich gold doré. The requirement to
use large area vacuum belt filters to
produce dry tailings that are deposited
with mine waste rock into a lined
tailing facility, adds to the complexity
of the process.

As a result, plant commissioning
and ramp up was slower and more
difficult than expected, particularly
in the areas of filtering and liquor
clarification in the Merrill Crowe
and tailings sections of the plant.
Specialist metallurgical consultants
were engaged on an extended basis to
assist with flow sheet modifications
and improve plant performance.
During the commissioning and ramp
up period a number of mechanical
problems also became evident, mainly
related to high wear rates associated
with the highly abrasive nature of
the ore.
By mid-June, when modifications to
aspects of the flow sheet, operating
practices and chemical flocculants
saw throughput approaching budget
levels, the region was hit with onein-50-year freezing weather, forcing
the operation to close for a number
of days. The freeze also impacted the
site’s supplies of chemicals and the
chemistry of the liquors in solution.
It was not until mid-August that
performance again began to approach
budget throughput levels.
Although the storms were considered
a one-in-50-year event, work has
commenced to enable the site to
operate normally should such events
be repeated in future years.
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The grinding mill and crushing
circuit performed well during the
year with very few problems and it
is clear the plant has spare milling
and crushing capacity well above
nameplate design. As the process of
ramping up production continues,
ongoing refinements and changes are
anticipated to improve efficiency
and production.
During the year a total of 81,481
dry tonnes of ore were processed, at
average grades of 7.51g/t gold and
117.57g/t silver, with 86.95% and
72.90% recovery respectively for a
total production of 17,106 ounces of
gold and 224,537 ounces of silver.

Mining
During the year, the open pit mine
operations moved as expected from
pre-strip to production mining.
However the longer than expected mill
ramp up resulted in a large stockpile
of ore, which at the end of the year
was 175,301 tonnes at average
grades of 6.32g/t gold and 81.69g/t
silver. At the end of the year the
agreement with the mining contractor
was terminated and Troy assumed
control of excavation using in house
management and rented equipment,
resulting in higher production and
improved workforce stability.

Blast Hole Drill Rig - Kamila Pit

Snow covered plant Casposo

Also during the year, an underground
design was prepared for the project
based on quotes from an external
mining contractor coordinated by
in-house engineering. Similarly,
geotechnical advice was provided
by Australian and South American
based contractors. The underground
design will provide the base for
further optimisations and designs,
reflecting more recent information
from exploration work and updated
economic factors.
For the period under review, a total of
239,551 tonnes of ore was mined at
grades of 6.99g/t gold and 97.92g/t
silver, together with 1,040,196bcms
of waste.

Occupational
Health and Safety
No lost time injuries were recorded
during construction or operation of the
mine during the year.

Casposo Plant and Mill, Argentina

Community and
Sustainability

Outlook

Troy remains active in community
relations work including assistance
to local educational, cultural and
sport activities that include providing
language, music and sports training.
The Company also supports ongoing
facility upgrades at outlying schools
within the region.

The discovery of the high grade
Kamila Southeast Extension is
expected to have a significant
impact on the Casposo operation.
A new Resource was announced in
September, and a new Reserve and
updated mine plan is scheduled for
release by early 2012.

Upgraded high speed internet access
was made available to local schools,
the Calingasta civic administration
and general community.

At this stage, conceptual planning
envisages accelerating the
development of the underground
mine allowing access to the very high
grade underground ore earlier than
currently planned.

Troy also supports specialist training
for trade related courses and assists
the community with upgrades to local
medical care facilities.
The Calingasta community relations
office is staffed by two fulltime local
employees, and continues to function
as a focal point for people seeking
information about the Company and
requests for assistance. It also serves
as a classroom for language and
music lessons.

This would not only “smooth out”
the production profile and maintain
production at a rate of over 100,000
gold equivalent ounces, but would
also extend the mine life.
With the potential for further
discoveries along strike from Kamila
and on other prospective targets on
the properties, the Casposo mine
is confidently expected to continue
operating well into the next decade.
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OPERATIONS
BRAZIL

ANDORINHAS
OPERATIONS
(Troy 100% through Reinarda
Mineração Ltda)

Production
The year was a very strong one for the
site with numerous records broken.
Gold production of 49,099 ounces
was a record and a 55% increase over
last year. Underground ore production
increased from 168,588 tonnes at
5.34g/t gold for the 2010 financial
year to 206,085 tonnes at 7.22g/t
gold for this year. The improvement
resulted from higher grades and vein
widths as we mine deeper parts of the
Mamão ore body and from significant
improvements in productivity due
to changes in the mining methods
introduced last year.
In 2010 the main decline was
redesigned, moving the stope access
from the hanging-wall to the foot-wall
of the Melechete ore body. This led
to significant improvement in the
ground conditions and, combined
with the introduction of cable bolting
for higher integrity roof support,
significantly higher productivity
and reduced dilution.

In the M2 ore body the “finger rise”
stoping mining method was replaced
with a conventional hand held open
shrinkage stoping method. Again
the change resulted in significant
improvements in productivity,
dilution, improved supervision with
better access and significantly
increased safety.

The improved productivity and
production resulted in a 24%
reduction in unit cash costs in
local currency terms despite official
inflation running at over 6%. Because
of the appreciation of the Brazilian
Real the unit cash cost in US dollars
fell 18% to US$519 per ounce
of gold.

Andorinhas operates by feeding
the processing plant high grade
ore from the underground operation
supplemented by low grade ore
from the Lagoa Seca stockpiles. The
improved productivity underground
resulted in more high-grade tonnes
being mined and processed from
underground and less low grade
stockpile material being processed.

Occupational
Health and Safety

The focus on continuous improvement
also extended to the processing plant.
Ongoing refurbishment of tanks and
equipment together with increased
reliability of the power supply saw
ore tonnes milled up 2% to 236,545
tonnes and metallurgical recovery also
up 2% to 93.8%.
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Changes in the underground mining
methods also led to a significant
improvement in operational safety
performance. Reinarda achieved 617
days without a lost time injury by
the end of the financial year, a new
record for the site. Our objective is to
continually improve safety at work and
at the same time help our employees
and their families to be more
conscious of safety in the home. This
program extends to creating a culture
of Employee Care. This program sees
the Company doctor treat employees
for ailments and injuries incurred
away from work.

THE YEAR WAS A VERY STRONG ONE FOR
THE SITE WITH NUMEROUS RECORDS
BROKEN. GOLD PRODUCTION OF 49,099
OUNCES WAS A RECORD AND A 55%
INCREASE OVER LAST YEAR.

Mamão Plant, Andorinhas Mine Brazil

Sustainability
and Environment
RML continues to support numerous
initiatives in our local communities.
The Company assisted in the
construction of the new football park
in nearby Floresta do Araguaia and
supports the sport and recreation
club in Rio Maria. In 2011 one of
the key areas of priority has been
the Company’s waste management
program. In addition to mine
machinery being powered by biodiesel, the site has focused on
reclamation of waste materials
and has invested in local waste
reclaim centres.

Outlook
Used oils, plastics, tyres and metals
are collected and sold for reuse.
The funds raised from the sale of
waste materials are focused on
improving the lives of families and
for the funding of employee social
events. In the two nearest towns,
where the majority of employees and
their families live, two children’s
playgrounds have been purchased
and will be installed the coming
financial year. These initiatives are
helping to improve the employee’s
environmental awareness and reduce
social problems.

The current Reserves will support
another two years of operation.
Having tested most regional surface
targets over preceding years, the main
exploration focus has moved to testing
extensions to the main Melechete
Lode at depth and selected near
mine targets.
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OPERATIONS
AUSTRALIA

SANDSTONE
OPERATIONS
(Troy 100%)
After 15 years of continuous mining,
initially under Herald Resources
Ltd and for the last 10 years under
the control of Troy Resources NL,
the Sandstone operation ceased
milling ore in September 2010.
Under Troy’s tenure the Sandstone
operation produced over 500,000
ounces of gold. The mills and tanks
were emptied, the compound secured
and the plant was put on care and
maintenance in October 2010.
Mining of the Eureka pit was
completed on 16 August 2010, with
a total of 67,977bcms of material
mined, including 22,544 tonnes
of ore at a grade of 2.25g/t gold.
The mining contractor, Hampton
Transport, has demobilised its fleet,
removing all infrastructure and
rehabilitating hardstand areas.
Mill feed was sourced from the
Eureka pit, the Lord Nelson
mineralised waste stockpile,
and stockpiled mill scats.

Ore milled during the year was
96,992 tonnes at a grade of 1.72g/t
gold yielding 4,985 ounces of fine
gold; the mill recovery averaged
92.9%. In addition 424 ounces of
gold was recovered from material
during a cleanup around the mills
and gold room area.

Sustainability
The good safety record for the site
continued with only one lost time
injury for the year.
The majority of the site workforce
was made redundant in August
and September of 2010 with most
employees immediately finding new
work. The Company kept the site
on care and maintenance for the
remainder of the financial year while
Western Areas NL (WSA) carried out
Stage One of exploration for nickel
under a joint venture arrangement.

The rehabilitation of all the waste
dumps, stockpile areas, and tailing
dams was completed with the reripping of all waste dumps and topsoil
being spread. Seeds of native flora
have also been dispersed over most
of the rehabilitated areas.
Most of the fencing around the waste
dumps, built to protect the vegetation
from feral goats, was completed and
the boundary fence separating the
Black Hill and Dandaraga stations
was also completed.
Our closure plan is being updated
and finalised by our environmental
consultant and will be presented to
the Department of Mines over the
next few months.

A decision on the future of the
property will be made during the
2012 financial year.

UNDER TROY’S TENURE THE SANDSTONE OPERATION
PRODUCED OVER 500,000 OUNCES OF GOLD. THE MILLS
AND TANKS WERE EMPTIED, THE COMPOUND SECURED
AND THE PLANT WAS PUT ON CARE AND MAINTENANCE
IN OCTOBER 2010.
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TROY RESOURCES HAS FORGED A PROVEN RECORD
OF FAST-TRACK MINE DEVELOPMENT, LOW COST
OPERATIONS, STRATEGIC ACQUISITIONS AND
EXPLORATION DISCOVERIES.

Lord Nelson Cutback - November 2009
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EXPLORATION
PROJECTS

CASPOSO OPERATIONS
(Troy 100% through Troy Resources
Argentina Ltd)

North Vein Target

Casposo Norte Target
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6 551 000 mN
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In early January 2011, Troy
commenced drilling the extensions
of the main veins that comprise
the Kamila Deposit. The program
was designed to test known low
sulphidation epithermal veins
(Inca Vein, B Vein Aztec Vein and
Southeast Extension Vein) at depth
and along strike through a series
of infill and step-out extensional
drill holes within the structurally
complex northwest-southeast corridor
that hosts the Kamila and Mercado
Deposits. Drilling comprised a series
of holes oriented from northwest to
southeast and designed to test B
Vein/Southeast Extension Vein at
shallow depths (+/- 100m) and the
Inca Vein deeper in each hole (about
250m – 350m). Drilling to date
(14,720m in 40 holes) has tested
only some 500m of the 1.5km long
target southeast of the north-south
striking post mineral dyke.

N
500 metres

gi

KAMILA SOUTHEAST
- INCA VEIN ZONE
DISCOVERY

2 440 000 mE

Aurora North Target

JULIETA TARGET
(3km west)

Re

During 2010 – 2011 exploration
at Casposo generated new data to
identify and rank vein targets for
drilling through detailed geological
mapping, geochemical sampling,
structural studies and ground
geophysics. A number of high priority
targets were drilled including Julieta,
Kamila Southeast Extension and
Casposo Norte Targets.

2 439 000 mE

2 438 000 mE
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Dacite Dykes

Mine, Ag-Au Deposit
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Current
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B Vein Gap
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Casposo Processing
Plant

Rosarita
Vein

6 547 000 mN
20090514-222-15 PICTOGRAPH

Rosarita
Hill

Casposo Project Extensional and Brownfields Target Location Plan

Initial drilling, on a 40m–50m
staggered pattern, produced
encouraging results including:

• CA-11-300: 5.40m at 8.18g/t gold
and 2607g/t silver or 45.43g/t Au_Eq
from 311.0m downhole;

• CA-11-295: 14.70m at 7.79g/t gold
and 1292g/t silver or 26.24g/t
Au_Eq from 342.5m downhole;

• CA-11-306: 5.90m at 15.80g/t gold
and 2610g/t silver or 53.09g/t
Au_Eq from 308.50m downhole;

• CA-11-297: 1.90m at 6.36g/t gold
and 1470g/t silver or 27.35g/t
Au_Eq from 270.6m downhole;

• CA-11-307: 2.70m at 10.64g/t gold
and 1245g/t silver or 28.42g/t
Au_Eq from 345.5m downhole;
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• CA-11-310: 5.10m at 2.76g/t gold
and 328g/t silver or 7.44g/t Au_Eq
from 297.7m downhole;
• CA-11-312: 1.20m at 17.73g/t gold
and 23g/t silver or 18.05g/t Au_Eq
from 377.1m downhole;
• CA-11-313: 15.95m at 7.72g/t gold
and 759g/t silver or 18.57g/t Au_Eq
from 319.0m downhole;
• CA-11-316: 3.45m at 21.59g/t gold
and 1240g/t silver or 39.30g/t Au_Eq
from 315.35m downhole; and
• CA-11-317: 2.00m at 10.99g/t gold
and 313g/t silver or 15.45g/t Au_Eq
from 332.5m downhole.
A second rig started drilling in late
June, focussed on an infill program
on the Inca Vein within the Southeast
Extension Target. Encouraging results
from the infill drilling include;
CA-11-318: 8.25m grading 8.33g/t
gold, 818g/t silver or 20.02g/t Au_Eq
from 342.15m downhole;
CA-11-323: 9.00m at 10.98g/t gold
and 1320g/t silver or 29.84g/t Au_Eq
from 289m downhole;
CA-11-325: 3.65m at 2.32g/t gold and
851g/t silver or 14.47g/t Au_Eq from
302.5m downhole; and
CA-11-326: 11.2m at 2.66g/t gold and
540g/t silver or 10.37g/t Au_Eq from
341.5m downhole.
The mineralisation is the same style of
low sulphidation epithermal vein hosted
high grade gold and silver associated
with the Inca Vein within the existing
underground Kamila Mining Reserve.
The veins are hosted within andesite
and can occur as massive, banded or
brecciated quartz veins with classic
Ginguro textures and fine grained black
sulphides as well as minor amounts of
pyrite-chalcopyrite, and native silver.
Local minor quartz vein stockworks
are common.
Current plans are to utilise both rigs to
complete a 25m spaced infill drilling
program to better define the high grade
mineralisation intersected within the
400m long zone immediately southeast
of the post mineral dyke and then
continue testing the rest of the 1km

strike length to the southeast. The initial
Kamila Southeast Resource Estimate
of 119,900oz Au_Eq (Measured and
Indicated – using 2.0g/t Au_Eq cutoff) and 51,000oz Au_Eq of Inferred
Resource includes a “high grade”
Measured and Indicated core zone
(5g/t Au_Eq cut-off) grading 6.6g/t
gold, 796g/t silver or 18g/t Au_Eq for
113,100oz Au_Eq. This represents a
19% increase in the Casposo Measured
and Indicated Resource Inventory and
more than doubles the contained gold
equivalent ounces in the Underground
Measured and Indicated Resource
Inventory. Current plans call for the
completion of a Mining Reserve
Estimate by early calendar 2012.

Julieta Target
The Julieta Prospect is located
5 kilometres along strike to the
northwest of the Kamila and Mercado
Deposits and is situated within the
same regional structural corridor.
In 2010, following the completion of
the RC program (10 holes/1043m),
a geological model and Resource
estimate for the Julieta Prospect
was completed resulting in an
Initial shallow Inferred Resource of
268,700t grading 3.21g/t gold and
15.44g/t silver (3.43g/t Au_Eq) for
29,700 Au_Eq ounces.
Following the 2011 Diamond Core
Drill Program the Inferred Resource
was re-estimated and consisted of
433,000t grading 4.0g/t gold and
23g/t silver or 4.3g/t Au_Eq for
60,300oz Au_Eq which has more than
doubled the Julieta Inferred Resource.

The 2011 DC drilling at the Julieta
targeted depths between 50m –
100m below the existing Resource
with the objective of testing a
possible change in vein mineralogy
from calcite dominant to more
silica dominant, a change in vein
texture and hopefully an associated
improvement in grade. DC drilling
commenced in March 2011 and a
number of significant assay intervals
were reported to the southeast of the
Resource including:
JU-11-32; 0.65m at 2.85g/t gold and
65g/t silver or 3.78g/t Au_Eq from
62.40m downhole;
JU-11-33; 12.7m grading 4.54g/t
gold and 18g/t silver or 4.80g/t Au_Eq
from 56.75m downhole;
JU-11-34: 18.75m grading 4.71g/t
gold and 32g/t silver or 5.16g/t Au_Eq
from 60.35m downhole;
JU-11-35: 4.76m grading 4.24g/t
gold and 43g/t silver or 4.85g/t Au_Eq
from 84.34m downhole; and
JU-11-39: 0.5m at 10.48g/t gold,
44g/t silver or 11.11g/t Au_Eq
from 126.8m downhole and 2.5m
at 4.65g/t gold and 70g/t silver or
5.66g/t Au_Eq from 145m downhole.
Drilling was ongoing at the end of the
year but was suspended in early July
with the onset of winter. Additional
holes are planned for next summer.

Diamond Drilling Kamila Southeast - Inca Vein Zone
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EXPLORATION PROJECTS CONTINUED
Casposo Covered
Area Targets – Main
Structural Corridor
The Casposo tenements are cut
diagonally by a major northwest –
southeast trending regional structural
corridor (see Figure to the right). All
of the known Reserves and Resources
at Kamila, Mercado and Julieta are
situated within this corridor and
85% of the drilling to date has
been focussed on the three resource
areas. The majority of this corridor
remains untested including a 5km
gap between Mercado and Julieta and
a 1.5km gap between Kamila and
the tenement’s eastern boundary. The
lack of exploration can be explained
by the fact that both “gaps” are
covered areas where no outcropping
veins have been mapped. To the
northwest of Mercado the area is
covered by younger volcanics while
to the southeast of Kamila the gap is
covered by thin gravel derived from
erosion off the high ground to the
west (see Figure to the right). In late
2011 the entire Casposo and Castaño
tenements will be surveyed using
a helicopter mounted geophysical
system (Magnetics/Radiometrics)
to generate a new detailed dataset
that will significantly enhance our
understanding of the structural setting
and underlying geology of the areas.
This will be followed by detailed
ground geophysical surveys to better
define drill targets.
Troy has completed both Gradient
Array and Pole – Dipole Induced
Polarization geophysical surveys over
the gravel covered areas southeast of
the Kamila Pit that identified several
targets with geophysical signatures
similar to that exhibited by the veins
of the Kamila Deposit. Drilling one
of these targets at Kamila Southeast
has successfully discovered high
grade mineralisation (see Figure to
the right). The other geophysical
anomalies will be drill tested as part
of the step-out drilling southeast of
the Kamila Southeast Discovery Zone.

Casposo Outcropping
Vein Targets
In June 2010, surface exploration
resulted in identifying a new
outcropping vein, known as Casposo
Norte, located about 4km north of
the Casposo mill. This discovery
prompted a reassessment of all of
the outcropping veins northeast
of the plant site. A program of
detailed geological mapping, channel
sampling, geochemical sampling,
structural studies and ground
geophysics was carried out to identify
and rank vein targets for drilling.

In addition to the Casposo Norte
Zone, this work highlighted the Lucia,
Aurora, Oveja Negra and Cerro Norte
Zones for drill targeting. To date,
the Casposo Norte and Cerro Norte
Targets have been tested by a limited
number of shallow RC drill holes that
have yield encouraging results. In July
a first pass DC drilling commenced at
Lucia (see Figure below).
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250 metres

EXPLORATION PROJECTS CONTINUED
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EXPLORATION PROJECTS CONTINUED
Castaño Nuevo
Joint Ventures

ANDORINHAS PROJECT

In 2009, Troy entered into an earn-in
option agreement with the owners
of the Castaño Nuevo Pesado JV
Property located 23km north of the
Casposo Mine. Exploration comprising
detailed geological mapping, channel
sampling and shallow diamond
drilling (27 holes/3040m) focussed
on 3 outcropping low sulphidation
epithermal veins with a combined
strike length of 2.5 kilometres.
Assays to date have produced slightly
anomalous gold values. Vein textures
and mineralogy suggest the upper
parts of the epithermal system have
been tested and deeper drilling
is warranted.

In 2011, the Company entered
into a similar earn-in option deal
for the Don David JV which has
significantly increased Troy’s land
position at Castaño (see Figure to
the right). The new property hosts
the southern extension of the
outcropping epithermal veins and
several large alteration zones with
limited modern exploration.
The next phase of work at Castaño
will comprise a program of airborne
geophysics followed by detailed
geological mapping, channel sampling,
geochemical sampling, structural
studies and ground geophysics to
identify and rank vein targets for drilling.
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N
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Castaño Nuevo Grupo Minero - Pesado JV

Don David JV

6 570 000 mN

(Troy 100% through Reinarda
Mineração Ltda)
Gold exploration of the 100% Troy
owned Andorinhas Property focused
on possible extensions of the known
gold bearing lodes at Mamão and
along the Mamão-Babaçu Corridor
(see Figure to the right).

Marcinho Target
The Marcinho Target is situated less
than 1km north-northwest of the
Mamão Mine, and is centred east of the
old Marcinho Garimpo Pit. Historical
exploration drilling tested the pit
mineralisation at depth (MAF-91 to 94)
but did not test the strike extensions or
any potential plunge to northeast.
Soil sampling defined a significant
gold-in-soil anomaly, with associated
peak gold values of 2510ppb,
470ppbb, 418ppb, 362ppb and
343ppb gold. Rock chip grab
sampling in this area yielded high
grade rock chip values of 32.88g/t
gold, 22.67g/t gold, 22.37g/t gold
and 14.80g/t gold.
To date, seven holes have been drilled
(MAC114 to MAC120) for a total
of 482.70m. A first pass drilling
program has identified potential for a
mineralised shoot that will be tested
with further drilling.

6 569 000 mN

Significant assays included;
• MAC115: 5m at 2.75g/t gold from
33m and 1.7m at 9.55g/t gold
from 42m;

6 568 000 mN

• MAC116: 1m at 5.19g/t gold
from 17m;
• MAC117: 1m at 4.02g/t gold
from 23m;

6 567 000 mN

Castaño Nuevo Grupo Minero - Pesado JV

1km

Don David JV

6 566 000 mN
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Castaño Nuevo JV Tenement Areas on Satellite Image
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• MAC118: 6m at 3.18g/t gold from
32m and 2m at 7.03g/t gold from
41m; and
• MAC119: 1m at 3.19g/t gold
from 40m.

EXPLORATION PROJECTS CONTINUED

Exploration will also continue to focus
on the Mamão-Babaçu Corridor along
strike of the mine to the northeast
and to the southwest.with additional
drilling planned for the following
targets Cava 5, F8, Luiza and Piaui.

Mamão Mine –
Melechete Lode
Underground drilling commenced late
in the June quarter to test Melechete
Lode extensions along both the west
and east sides of the Reserve. This
six month program is planned to
systematically test the strike and downdip extent of the Melechete Lode and
is planned to initially drill test targets
adjacent to the Reserve, followed by a
series of step-outs at depth.
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MINERAL

RESERVES & RESOURCES
GOLD & SILVER
Table 1: Resource and Reserve Summary
Category

Tonnes

Grade

Ounces

Proved

95,000

2.5

7,500

Probable

2,306,000

5.9

437,200

TOTAL

2,401,000

5.8

444,700

Probable

1,804,000

176.7

10,251,200

TOTAL

1,804,000

176.7

10,251,200

Measured

191,000

4.6

28,100

Indicated

5,451,000

4.4

771,700

Inferred

14,241,000

1.7

779,600

Measured

96,000

769.9

2,376,400

Indicated

2,301,000

227.6

16,839,500

Inferred

920,000

152.3

4,503,700

Gold Mineral Reserves

Silver Mineral Reserves

Gold Mineral Resources

Silver Mineral Resources

Gold Equivalent Mineral Reserves
Proved

95,000

2.5

7,500

Probable

2,306,000

7.7

571,000

TOTAL

2,401,000

7.5

578,500

Gold Equivalent Mineral Resources
Measured

191,000

10.1

62,100

Indicated

5,451,000

5.6

990,000

Inferred

14,241,000

1.8

840,800

Table 2a: Gold Production Reconciliation 2010/11
Andorinhas - Mamão Underground

Tonnes

Grade

Ounces

Insitu Reserve - June 30, 2010

601,410

8.30

160,484

Stocks June 30, 2010

11,085

5.63

2,006

Mined 2010 - 2011

206,085

7.22

47,878

Processed 2010 - 2011

208,553

7.42

49,779

Stocks June 30, 2011

8,617

7.14

1,978

Adjustments *

42,978

10.44

14,431

Insitu Reserve - June 30, 2011

438,303

9.02

127,037

* adjustments include reconciliation inconsistencies and material left as supporting pillars underground
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Note to Table 2a
During the course of the year the mine made changes to the mining method which resulted in a reduction in dilution
and improved recovery of ore. Additional material was mined from areas adjacent to but outside the current reserve.

Table 2b: Gold Production Reconciliation 2010/11
Casposo – Open Pit

Tonnes

Au g/t

Ag g/t

Au_Eq g/t

Au_Eq Ounces

Insitu Reserve - June 30, 2010

1,346,000

5.90

128.0

7.60

327,000

Mined 2010 - 2011

229,000

8.69

100.0

10.12

74,500

Processed 2010 - 2011

81,500

7.51

118.0

9.20

24,100

Stocks June 30, 2011

175,300

6.32

82.0

7.48

42,200

Insitu Reserve - June 30, 2011

1,117,000

5.32

133.7

7.03

252,500

* adjustments include reconciliation inconsistencies and material left as supporting pillars underground

A more detailed breakdown of the Resources and Reserves is contained in Table 3.

Table 3: Gold Mineral Reserves
Country

Project

Argentina

Casposo

Brazil

Andorinhas

Deposit

Category

Tonnes

Gold Grade g/t

Gold Ounces

Kamila/Mercado Pit

Probable

1,117,000

5.9

211,900

Kamila Underground

Probable

687,000

4.0

88,400

Mamão Underground

Proven

9,000

7.1

2,000

Mamão Underground

Probable

438,000

9.0

127,000

Coruja Pit

Probable

64,000

4.8

9,900

Lagoa Seca Stockpiles

Proven

86,000

2.0

5,500

Total Proven

95,000

2.5

7,500

Total Probable

2,306,000

5.9

437,200

2,401,000

5.8

444,700

TOTAL MINERAL RESERVES GOLD
Silver Mineral Reserves
Country

Project

Deposit

Category

Tonnes

Silver Grade g/t Silver Ounces

Argentina

Casposo

Kamila/Mercado Pit

Probable

1,117,000

128.0

4,596,800

Kamila Underground

Probable

687,000

256.0

5,654,400

1,804,000

176.7

10,251,200

TOTAL MINERAL RESERVES SILVER
Casposo Gold Equivalent Mineral Reserves
Country

Project

Deposit

Category

Tonnes

Au_Eq grade g/t Au_Eq ounces

Argentina

Casposo

Kamila/Mercado Pit

Probable

1,117,000

7.6

272,900

Kamila Underground

Probable

687,000

7.3

161,200

1,804,000

7.5

434,100

CASPOSO MINERAL RESERVES
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MINERAL RESERVES & RESOURCES - GOLD & SILVER CONTINUED
Table 4: Gold Mineral Resources (inclusive of Mineral Reserves)
Country

Project

Deposit

Category

Tonnes

Gold Grade g/t

Gold Ounces

Argentina

Casposo

Kamila/Mercado

Indicated

2,140,000

5.4

374,500

Brazil

Australia

Andorinhas

Sandstone

Inferred

261,000

3.6

30,000

Julieta

Inferred

433,000

4.0

55,700

Kamila Southeast
- Inca Vein Zone

Measured

96,000

6.7

20,600

Indicated

161,000

4.4

22,900

Inferred

226,000

3.0

21,800

Measured

9,000

7.1

2,000

Indicated

470,000

11.1

168,000

Inferred

306,000

7.0

70,000

Coruja

Indicated

171,000

3.6

20,000

Lagoa Seca

Measured

86,000

2.0

5,500

Lagoa Seca West

Indicated

577,000

2.4

40,400

Inferred

171,000

1.3

7,000

Luiza

Inferred

258,000

2.5

20,700

Lord Nelson

Indicated

392,000

3.0

37,700

Inferred

84,000

1.8

4,900

Indicated

987,000

1.9

60,300

Inferred

39,000

1.7

2,100

Two Mile Hill Tonalite

Inferred

10,541,000

1.3

452,100

Two Mile Hill BIF

Indicated

59,000

9.9

18,800

Sandstone other

Indicated

494,000

1.8

29,100

Sandstone other

Inferred

1,922,000

1.9

115,300

Measured

191,000

4.6

28,100

Indicated

5,451,000

4.4

771,700

Inferred

14,241,000 1.7

779,600

Mamão

Lord Henry

TOTAL MINERAL RESOURCES GOLD

Silver Mineral Resources (inclusive of Mineral Reserves)
Country

Project

Deposit

Category

Tonnes

Silver Grade g/t

Silver Ounces

Argentina

Casposo

Kamila/Mercado

Indicated

2,140,000

201.7

13,877,500

Inferred

261,000

255.1

2,140,600

Julieta

Inferred

433,000

23.0

320,200

Kamila Southeast
- Inca Vein Zone

Measured

96,000

769.9

2,376,400

Indicated

161,000

572.0

2,962,000

Inferred

226,000

281.0

2,042,900

Measured

96,000

769.9

2,376,400

Indicated

2,301,000

227.6

16,839,500

Inferred

920,000

152.3

4,503,700

TOTAL MINERAL RESOURCES SILVER
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MINERAL RESERVES & RESOURCES - GOLD & SILVER CONTINUED
Casposo Gold Equivalent Mineral Resources
Country

Project

Deposit

Category

Tonnes

Gold
Equivalent
Grade g/t

Gold
Equivalent
Ounces

Argentina

Casposo

Kamila/Mercado

Indicated

2,140,000

8.0

550,400

Inferred

261,000

6.9

57,900

Julieta

Inferred

433,000

4.3

59,900

Kamila Southeast
- Inca Vein Zone

Measured

96,000

17.7

54,600

Indicated

161,000

12.6

65,300

Inferred

226,000

7.0

50,900

Measured

96,000

17.7

54,600

Indicated

2,301,000

8.3

615,700

Inferred

920,000

5.7

168,700

CASPOSO MINERAL RESOURCES

Notes to Table 3
and Table 4
Notes to Table 3
• Cut-off grades for reporting Mineral
Resources are applied as follows:
Casposo - 0.8g/t Au_Eq
and 2.0g/t Au_Eq
Julieta - 2.0 g/t Au_Eq
Kamila Southeast
- Inca Vein Zone - 2.0 g/t Au_Eq
Mamão underground - 2.0g/t Au
Lagoa Seca West - 0.8g/t Au
Luiza - 0.8g/t Au
Coruja - 0.8g/t
Lord Nelson - 0.5g/t Au
Lord Henry - 0.8g/t Au
Two Mile Hill - 0.5g/t Au
Sandstone - 1.0g/t Au
Cut-off grades for reporting Mineral
Reserves are as follows:
Mamão underground- 4.0g/t Au
Casposo- Open Pit 1.5g/t Au_Eq,
Underground 4.3g/t Au_Eq
• Casposo Mineral Resources have
been constrained by an optimized
pit shell using a gold price of
US$1000/oz and silver price of
US$15/oz. Resources within the
pit shell have been reported at
a cut-off grade of 0.8g/t Au_Eq.
Mineral Resources outside the
pit shell have been reported at
a cut-off grade of 2.0g/t Au_Eq

• Casposo Mineral Reserves have
been estimated using a gold price
of US$950/oz and silver price of
US$15.00/oz
• Gold equivalency at Casposo for
Mineral Resources and Mineral
Reserves has been calculated by
the formula Au_Eq = Au g/t +
(Ag g/t ÷ 70). The gold: silver ratio
of 70 has been determined using
metal prices of US$1,200/oz for
gold and US$20.00/oz for silver
and processing recoveries of 93.7%
for gold and 80.6% for silver.
Using the 200 day moving average
price for both gold and silver at
the end of June 2011 with
processing recoveries of 93.7%
for gold and 80.6% for silver
results in a gold to silver ratio
of 50.
• The Mamão underground Mineral
Reserve was estimated using a gold
price of US$912/oz

• Mineral Resources are reported
inclusive of Mineral Reserves.
Mineral Resources that are
not Mineral Reserves do not have
demonstrated economic viability.

OUR MISSION
REMAINS
SIMPLE AND
CLEAR
TO CREATE
SHAREHOLDER
VALUE

• Proven Reserves and Measured
Resources represent stockpiled
ore at the mine site and/or
processing plant.
• Sandstone other Resources
include several, small, non-material
resources that are located within
the Sandstone Project.

23 < TROY RESOURCES NL | ANNUAL REPORT 2011

MINERAL

RESERVES & RESOURCES
IRON ORE
Mineral Reserves – Iron Ore
Deposit

Reporting cut-off

Tonnes

(% Fe)

Fe

Al2O3

SiO2

P

%

%

%

%

LOI

BRAZIL
Andorinhas - Abacaxi
Probable

No cutoff

2,118,000

63.1

4.7

2.7

0.048

1.4

No cutoff

692,000

64.9

1.9

4.8

0.023

1.0

2,810,000 63.6

3.9

3.2

0.042

1.3

Fe

Al2O3

SiO2

P

LOI

%

%

%

%

Andorinhas - Estrela
Probable

TOTAL

Mineral Resources – Iron Ore (inclusive of Mineral Reserves)
Deposit

Reporting cut-off

Tonnes

(% Fe)
BRAZIL
Andorinhas - Abacaxi
Indicated

No cutoff

4,898,200

50.7

8.5

7.7

0.065

4.1

No cutoff

1,593,900

51.2

6.0

8.1

0.04

2.8

6,495,000 50.8

7.9

7.8

0.06

3.8

Andorinhas - Estrela
Indicated

TOTAL

Capsoso Plant and Millsite, Argentina.
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Diamond Core Drilling Kamila Southeast - Inca Vein Zone - Casposo, Argentina

Troy’s Andorinhas Iron Ore Mineral
Reserves and Resources remain
unchanged since last reported.
Details of the Andorinhas Iron Ore
Project can be found in the technical
report “Andorinhas Iron Project, Para
State, Brazil – September 2008”. The
report was lodged under Troy’s corporate
profile on the SEDAR website on
October 22, 2008.
Information of a scientific or technical
nature in the report was prepared
under the supervision of Peter J.
Doyle, Vice President Exploration and
Business Development of Troy and
Keith Whitehouse Geological Associate
(Auralia Mining Consultants). As the
“qualified persons” under National
Instrument 43-101 – “Standards of
Disclosure for Mineral Projects”, Mr
Doyle is a Fellow of the Australasian

Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr
Doyle has sufficient experience, which
is relevant to the style of mineralisation
and type of deposit under consideration,
and to the activity he is undertaking,
to qualify as a “competent person”
as defined in the 2004 edition of the
“Australasian Code for Reporting of
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources
and Ore Reserves”. Mr Doyle has
reviewed and approved the information
contained in the report.
Mr Whitehouse is a graduate of the
Victoria University – Wellington New
Zealand with the degree of Bachelor
of Science in Geology (1976) He is a
Member of the Australasian Institute of
Mining and Metallurgy and a Chartered
Professional (no. 107612). Mr
Whitehouse has worked as a geologist
for 37 years since my graduation from
university and he has experience in

gold exploration, mining and project
development for several mining and
exploration companies in Australia and
overseas. Mr Whitehouse is undertaking,
to qualify as a “competent person”
as defined in the 2004 edition of the
“Australasian Code for Reporting of
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources
and Ore Reserves”. Mr Whitehouse has
reviewed and approved the information
contained in the report.
For further information regarding the
Casposo Project, including a description
of quality assurance programs, quality
control measures, the geology, samples
collection and testing procedures in
respect of the Casposo project please
refer to the technical reports entitled
Troy Resources NL: Casposo Project,
Argentina” dated June 2009 and May
2010, which is available under the
Company’s profile at sedar.com.
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

This statement summarises the
Corporate Governance policies and
practices adopted by the Company.
Troy’s objective is to achieve best
practice in Corporate Governance
and the Company’s Directors and
Officers are committed to meeting
this objective.
Additional information can be
found on the Company’s website
at www.troyres.com.au.

ASX BEST PRACTICE
RECOMMENDATIONS
The Company supports the
principles espoused in the Corporate
Governance and Principles and
Recommendations” as issued by the
ASX Corporate Governance Council
in August 2007. The Company’s
Directors and Officers are all
committed to meeting this objective.

• ensuring the Company has
adequate systems and internal
controls together with appropriate
monitoring of compliance activities;
• approval and compliance with
policies including health, safety
and environment; and
• reporting to shareholders on the
direction and performance of
the Company.
Particular matters that are dealt with
by the Board include significant
investments, capital and funding
proposals, mergers and acquisitions,
budgets and plans, financial results
and performance, dividends and
issues relating to internal controls
and risk management.

Board Composition

The Role of the Board

At 30 September 2011, the Board
was comprised of seven Directors,
being two executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors
of which one is the Chairman
plus a non-executive Director. The
Board does comprise a majority of
independent Directors.

The management and control of the
business and affairs of the Company
are vested in the Board of Directors.
The Board sets the direction and
guides and monitors the business
and affairs of the Company on
behalf of shareholders, by whom
the Directors are elected and to
whom they are accountable.

In November 2010 at the previous
years’ Annual General Meeting, Mr
John Dow stepped down as a nonexecutive Chairman and Mr David
Dix was promoted to the role, while
Mr Frederick Grimwade was elected
as a non-executive Director. Mr Dow
subsequently resigned as a nonexecutive Director on 5 March 2011.

The primary functions of the
Board include:

The Board is of the view that there
is an appropriate balance between
independent and executive Director
representation and maintains
sufficient relevant experience for
the Board to fulfil its objectives.

THE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS

• developing and setting the
Company’s strategic direction in
conjunction with management;
• overall review of performance
against targets and objectives;
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While the Board considers that the
number of Directors is appropriate
for the scope and size of activities
currently being undertaken by the
Company, it periodically reviews
the makeup and composition of
the Board.
The Constitution of the Company
allows for the Board to be up to nine
members. A Director (other than the
Managing Director) may not retain
office for more than three years
without submitting for re-election.
At the Annual General Meeting each
year, a minimum of one Director
must retire by rotation and be reelected by the shareholders if they
are to continue as a Director of the
Company. Directors appointed during
a year must seek re-election at the
next Annual General Meeting.
The Board meets on an “as required”
basis, but at least three times
a year in person with additional
meetings being held by telephone
hook-up. On average the Board
meets approximately 12 times per
year. The Board’s agenda is agreed
by the CEO in conjunction with
the Chairman and the Company
Secretary. Directors receive reports on
financial, exploration and operational
performance monthly and relevant
additional papers for consideration
in advance of each Board meeting.
Executives not on the Board are
regularly involved in relevant
Board discussions and Directors
have the opportunity, both formal
and informal, for discussions with
employees. In consultation with the
Chairman or CEO, Directors are
able to access information directly
from management.

Remuneration Committee
The Board has delegated responsibility
for the operation and administration
of the Company to the CEO who is
responsible to the Board. The CEO
is assisted in his role through an
Executive Committee. The Executive
Committee currently includes the
CEO (Mr P Benson), the Director of
Operations (Mr K K Nilsson), the Vice
President – Exploration and Business
Development (Mr P J Doyle) and
the Chief Financial Officer
(Mr D R Sadgrove).

Remuneration paid to Directors is set
at a competitive level commensurate
with the level of experience and
qualifications of the Directors.
A Remuneration Committee was
constituted in 2004 to undertake
the review of executive remuneration
including that of the executive Directors.
The Remuneration Committee consists
of Mr D R Dix (Chair), and Mr G R
Chambers, both independent, nonexecutive Directors, and Mr J L C Jones,
a non-executive Director.

Independent
Professional Advice

The remuneration of senior executives
is also formulated by the Remuneration
Committee whose decisions are
guided by industry conditions and
industry remuneration surveys. The
remuneration of other senior employees
is reviewed and recommended by
the relevant manager to the CEO
and is ratified by the Remuneration
Committee and the Board.

All Directors have the right to
seek independent professional
advice concerning any aspect
of the Company’s operations or
undertakings. Prior approval of the
Chairman is required, but this is not
to be unreasonably withheld. If the
advice sought concerns the Chairman
or is related to the Chairman, then the
approval can be provided by one of
the independent Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee
The Company has had a formally
established Audit Committee since
1998. A new Audit Committee Charter
was adopted in November 2007 in
anticipation of the Company’s listing
on the Toronto Stock Exchange. The
new Charter included additional
requirements to satisfy compliance
with Canadian securities legislation.
The committee currently consists of
Mr G R Chambers (Chair), Mr F S
Grimwade, and Mr C R W Parish, all
independent non-executive Directors.
The primary function of the Audit
Committee is to review:
(a) the Financial Statements of
		 the Company;
(b) the effectiveness of management
		 information systems and systems
		 of internal control; and
(c) the efficiency and effectiveness
		 of the external audit functions.

The Board believes that the issue of
options to employees is an important
part of their salary package. Options
allows employees to participate in
the ownership of the Company and
enables the Company to supplement
cash-based salary to better compete
for and retain skilled workers in the
industry at a lesser cost to the entity.
Due to the changes to the Australian
tax laws in 2009, share options are no
longer an attractive tool for Australia
based employees. Because of this the
Company introduced a Performance
Share Plan that was approved by
shareholders in 2010.

Nomination Committee
A formalised Nomination Committee
charter was adopted in 2004 for
the review of composition of the
Board, to make recommendations
on any changes to the Board and to
select a CEO. Up until March 2010
the activities of the Nomination
Committee were carried out by the full
Board. The Nomination Committee
was formed on 7 March 2010 and
currently consists of Mr D R Dix
(Chair) an independent non-executive
Director, and Mr J L C Jones, a nonexecutive Director.

Effective from September 2011,
the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee have been
combined to form the Remuneration
and Nomination Committee.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for ensuring
that risks are identified on a timely
basis and that the Company’s
objectives and activities are aligned
to minimising these risks.
The Board monitors and receives
advice on areas of operational,
financial, political and asset risk and
considers strategies for appropriate risk
management arrangements. Specific
areas of risk to the Company include
foreign currency and commodity price
fluctuations, gold hedging strategies,
tenement management, human
resources, health and safety, the
environment and geographical and
geopolitical locations.
Some of the mechanisms in place
to ensure that identified risks are
properly managed include:• Board approval of a strategic plan
which includes the Company’s
vision and strategy;
• Implementation of approved
operating plans and budgets and
monitoring progress against these
budgets in both a financial and
non-financial nature;
• The Company has put in place
a Treasury Policy;
• The undertaking of a specific Group
wide Business Risk Survey which
will encompass the identifying of
specific risks for the Group, their
likely impact and a specific plan
and strategy to minimise these
identified risks.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED
ETHICAL STANDARDS
The Board’s policy is that the
Directors and management should
conduct themselves with the highest
ethical standards. All Directors and
employees are expected to act with
integrity and objectivity, striving at
all times to enhance the reputation
and performance of the consolidated
entity. A formal policy has been
adopted by the Board as a guideline
for the ethical activities of both the
Company and of management.
The Company recognises that
environmental performance is an
important factor in its business
performance and as a measure of its
professionalism. It recognises that
its activities have environmental
impacts and that it has obligations
to minimise those for the benefit of
all. As a minimum, the Company
will comply with all applicable
environmental obligations and
commits to continually improving
environmental performance by
increasing environmental awareness
and responsibility through education
of its employees and contractors.
The Company is a voluntary
signatory to the Australian Minerals
Industry Code for Environmental
Management. This includes health,
safety and environmental issues which
should be of the highest standard
and comply with the Company’s
policies as published in the manual
“Environmental, Health, Safety
and Community Report” and is
available for review on the Company’s
website. These policies are applied
on a Company wide basis in all
geographical areas of activity,
not just within Australia.

TRADING IN THE
COMPANY’S SECURITIES

RESPONSIBILITY
TO SHAREHOLDERS

The Board adopted a revised
Share Trading Policy in April 2008
in relation to the trading in the
securities of the Company and
has distributed the policy to all
employees of the Company. The
policy describes what constitutes
Insider Trading, the penalties for
undertaking such activities and
makes recommendations on when
employees should not trade in the
Company’s securities. The policy also
notes designated “black out” periods
during which Directors and senior
management are not allowed to trade
in securities of the Company.

The Board aims to ensure that
shareholders are informed on all major
aspects and developments affecting
the Company and the Consolidated
Entity. The Board distributes
information via:

CONTINUOUS
DISCLOSURE
The Board is committed to ensuring
that trading in the Company’s securities
takes place in an informed market such
that shareholders and the investment
community has confidence in the
quality, timeliness and integrity of
information provided by the Company.
In accordance with the continuous
disclosure requirements of the
ASX Listing Rules, the Company
has procedures in place to ensure
that all price sensitive information
is identified, reviewed and, where
applicable, disclosed to the ASX and
shareholders immediately.
The Company occasionally makes
presentations at conferences and
briefings to shareholders and analysts.
On these occasions, the Company
takes care to ensure that no price
sensitive information is included, or
it is released to the market prior to
the conference/briefing. Conference
presentations are usually released
to the ASX and also posted on the
Company’s website.

• Continuous disclosure of
information to the ASX;
• The Annual Report to shareholders;
• Quarterly Activities Reports;
• Notices of Meetings to shareholders;
• Investor briefings and
conference presentations;
• Distribution to shareholders and other
relevant bodies of the Company’s
“Environmental, Health, Safety and
Community Report”; and
• All the above reports and other
useful and relevant information are
posted on the Company’s website
on a timely basis.

ASX BEST PRACTICE
RECOMMENDATIONS
The table below contains a list
of each of the ASX Best Practice
Recommendations and whether the
Company was in compliance with
the recommendations at the end
of the year. Where the Company
considers that it is divergent from
these recommendations, or that it is
not practical to comply, there is an
explanation of the Company’s reasons
set out in the following table:
Notes
1. Board performance evaluation is not
disclosed. The performance of the Board has
generally been reviewed internally. However,
a full review of the Board’s composition and
performance was commissioned in August
2008 and undertaken by a nationally
recognised, experienced consulting firm.
The recommendations of this review were
implemented by the Board during the
2010 year.
2. The Board has requested that a risk
management profile and systems be
prepared. As at the date of this report, due
to significant operational changes,
management has not completed the risk
management review and has not delivered
a final report to the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED
Complied
1.1

Establish and disclose the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to management

1.2
1.3
2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5

Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior executives

2.6
3.1

Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 1
A majority of the Board should be independent directors
The Chair should be an independent director
The roles of Chair and Chief Executive Officer should not be exercised by the same individual
The Board should establish a Nomination Committee
Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the board, its committees
and individual directors
Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 2
Establish a code of conduct, disclose the code or a summary of the code as to:
3.1.1
3.1.2
		
3.1.3
		

Disclose the policy concerning trading in Company securities by Directors, senior executives
and employees

3.3
4.1
4.2

Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 3

4.3
4.4
5.1
5.2
6.1
6.2
7.1
7.2

7.3

7.4
8.1
8.2
8.3








X

1




the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity
the practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations and the
reasonable expectations of their stakeholders
the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating
reports of unethical practices

3.2

The Board should establish an Audit Committee
The Audit Committee should be structured so that it consists of:
•
•
•
•

Note






only Non-Executive Directors
a majority of independent Directors
an independent Chair who is not Chair of the Board
at least three members

The Audit Committee should have a formal charter
Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 4
Establish written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing
Rule disclosure requirements to ensure accountability at a senior executive level for that
compliance and disclose those policies or a summary of those policies
Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 5
Design and disclose a communications policy for promoting effective communication with
shareholders and encourage their participation at general meetings
Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting Principle 6
Establish and disclose the policies for the oversight and management of material business risks
Require management to design and implement risk management and internal control systems
to manage the Company’s material business risks and report to the Board whether those risks
are being managed effectively. Disclose that management has reported to the Board as to the
effectiveness of the Company’s management of its material business risks
Disclose if it has received assurances from the CEO (or equivalent) and the CFO (or equivalent)
that the declaration provided in accordance with S.925A of the Corporations Act is founded on a
sound system or risk management and internal controls and that the system is operating effectively
in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks
Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 7
The Board should establish a Remuneration Committee
Clearly distinguish the structure of Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration from that of Executives
Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 8










2
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SHAREHOLDER
STATISTICS

NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS
Ordinary Share Capital
As at 30 September 2011
88,112,823 fully paid ordinary shares held by 5,511 shareholders.
3,072,500 employee options over ordinary shares held by 44 option holders.
1,585,293 options over ordinary shares held by Investec Bank (Australia) Limited.
24,000 employee performance rights over ordinary shares held by 3 employees.

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS
Fully Paid Ordinary

Employee Options

1 – 1,000

2,142

-

1,001 – 5,000

2,260

5

5,001 – 10,000

520

8

10,001 – 100,000

530

24

100,001 and over

59

7

5,511

44

223

N/A

Holding less than a marketable parcel:

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER
Ordinary
Shareholder

Number of
Securities

Person’s
Votes

Voting Power
Percentage

Warrigal Pty Ltd

10,504,380

10,504,380

11.92%

El Oro Ltd

4,874,287

4,874,287

5.53%
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SHAREHOLDER STATISTICS CONTINUED

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
as at 30 September 2011

Ordinary Shareholder

Number

Percentage

National Nominees Limited

13,968,696

15.85

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited

12,126,591

13.76

Warrigal Pty Ltd

6,952,400

7.89

JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited

4,880,659

5.54

Canadian Register Control (CDS & Co.)

4,721,554

5.36

JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited <Cash Income A/C>

4,043,776

4.59

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited

1,715,310

1.95

Cogent Nominees Pty Limited

1,094,139

1.24

Bond Street Custodians Ltd <Macquarie Smaller Co's A/C>

747,920

0.85

Mr John Load Cecil Jones

737,707

0.84

Gladiator Pty Ltd

700,000

0.79

Strath Dee Pty Ltd

603,067

0.68

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited <Colonial First State Inv A/C>

554,763

0.63

Mr Damon Wells

541,764

0.61

Arinya Investments Pty Ltd

537,200

0.61

Ms Amanda Jane Cecil Jones + Mr Barton Cecil Jones <Est Barton Cecil Jones A/C>

528,450

0.60

L J Thomson Pty Ltd

525,686

0.60

AMP Life Limited

485,515

0.55

Mr Bruce Clayton Bird

429,155

0.49

RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Ltd <Piselect A/C>

406,966

0.46

TOTAL TOP 20

56,301,318

63.90
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Casposo Exploration Team. Left to Right: (Back) Guillermo Romero; Irma Belvideri; Pedro Garces;
Agustina Cóocla; Gustavo Sotarello; Augusto Mol; Brendon Dean; (Front) Rodrigo Peralta; Peter Doyle
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TROY RESOURCES NL | AR 2011
DIRECTOR’S REPORT
For the financial year ended 30 June 2011

The Directors of Troy Resources NL present their annual financial report for the financial year ended 30 June 2011.
In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors report as follows:

DIRECTORS
The names and particulars of the Directors of the Company in office during or since the end of the financial year are:
Mr D R Dix, Independent Non-Executive Chairman, Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committees
B.Ec; LLB; Grad Dip (Tax Law) (aged 57) – appointed 28 January 2010 and as Chairman on 25 November 2010
Mr Dix’s background is in economics, law and taxation and he is a Barrister and Solicitor in the High Court of Australia. He has
held various positions with Shell Australia Limited and worked for 16 years in Corporate Advisory at both Macquarie Bank Limited
and UBS AG specialising in the mining industry, including Head of Resources for Asia Pacific and in London as Head of Mining.
Mr Dix is chairman of Australian oil company, AED Oil Limited, and chairman of Quadrem Limited, a company which provides
eBusiness solutions to the resource sector. He brings a wealth of experience gained in the international business and resources
communities. Mr Dix is also a non-executive director of Aquarius Platinum since March 2004.
Mr P Benson, Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director
B.Sc in Geology, B.Eng in Mining, M.Sc in Management (London Business School) (aged 48) – Chief Executive Officer since 3 October 2007 and reappointed
Managing Director on 13 September 2010 (previously a director between 3 October 2007 and 27 November 2009)
Mr Benson has over 25 years’ experience in the mining industry having worked for RGC Limited, the Rio Tinto Group and BHP Billiton
Limited in several locations including Australia, Portugal, the United States and South America. Before joining Troy, Mr Benson was
the Chief Development Officer, Base Metals Division, for BHP Billiton Limited from 2004 to September 2007 and also the Vice
President of Business Development, Base Metals Division, for BHP Billiton Limited, from 2001 until September 2007.
Mr G R Chambers, Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee and member of the Remuneration Committee
B.Comm, LLB, Member of Bar – British Columbia, Canada (aged 50) – appointed 3 April 2008
Mr Chambers is a partner of Canadian law firm Lawson Lundell LLP based in Vancouver and is head of the firm’s Corporate
Finance and Securities Group. With over 20 years’ experience in the legal sector, Mr Chambers specialises in securities law. He
has a particular focus on corporate finance for mining companies and has extensive experience advising dual-listed issuers,
particularly Australian companies that are dual-listed on the TSX.
Mr Chambers has previously served on the Securities Legal Advisory Committee of the British Columbia Securities Commission
and on the Securities Advisory Committee of the Vancouver Stock Exchange.
Mr Chambers is a non-executive director of TSX Venture listed Continental Nickel Limited.
Mr JLC Jones, Non-Executive Director, Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committees
AusIMM, AICD (aged 67) – appointed July 1988
Mr Jones, Troy Resources’ major shareholder, has over 40 years’ experience as a director of public companies. Past roles include as
founder and Chairman of Jones Mining Ltd, and Chairman of both North Kalgurli Mines NL and Anglo Australian Resources NL.
In addition to being a Director of Troy Resources, he is currently a Director of Anglo Australian Resources (since 1990), Director
of private company Hampton Transport Services Pty Ltd, a service company to the mining industry in Australia, and founder and
Chairman of both Altan Rio Minerals Limited and Altan Nevada Minerals Limited.
Mr KK Nilsson, Executive Director of Project Development
B.Eng, Cert of Eng (aged 70) – appointed May 1998
Mr Nilsson has been the Company’s Chief Operating Officer since April 1997. He is a mining engineer with more than 35 years’
experience in the mining industry, covering gold, base metals and coal. Mr Nilsson’s title was recently revised from Director of
Operations to Director of Project Development as his role in the future will focus on new projects plus underground mine
development at Casposo.
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Mr CRW Parish, Independent Non-Executive Director, Member of the Audit Committee
BA Hons and MA from Oxford University (aged 61) – appointed 27 November 2009
Mr Parish has been involved in Investment Management since 1971, and a Director of El Oro Ltd and its predecessor sister The
Exploration Co. plc since 1981. El Oro originated as a silver mine in Mexico, and managing its portfolio has developed a broad
knowledge of mining across a diverse spread of metals and geographic locations. El Oro has intimately followed the progress of
Troy for more than 10 years.
Mr F S Grimwade, Independent Non-Executive Director, Member of the Audit Committee
B Comm, LLB (Hons), MBA (Columbia), FAICD, SF Fin, FCIS (age 53) – appointed 25 November 2010
Mr Grimwade is a non-executive director of Select Harvests Limited, chairman of CPT Global Limited and is a principal and
executive director of Fawkner Capital, a specialist corporate advisory and investment firm. He was a director of AWB Limited from
2008-2010 and has held general management positions at Colonial Agricultural Company, the Colonial Group, Western Mining
Corporation and Goldman, Sachs & Co. He has a broad range of experience in strategic management, mining, finance, corporate
governance and law.
Mr JAS Dow, (Retired) Independent Non-Executive Chairman, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and member of the Audit and
Nomination Committees B.Sc (Hons) in Geology, FAusIMM, CP (Man) (aged 65) – appointed as a Director on 15 February 2006 Mr Dow concluded his tenure as
Chairman on 25 November 2010 and retired from the board as a non-executive director on 5 March 2011
Mr Dow is a mining executive with more than 40 years of experience in mining and exploration most recently as chairman and
managing director of Newmont Australia (formerly Normandy Mining Limited) from which he retired in March 2005. Mr Dow is
currently non-executive chairman of Pike River Coal Limited and Glass Earth Gold Limited. He was a director of the Australasian
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (AusIMM) up until December 2009 and is chairman of the CODES (U.Tas) External Advisory
Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr D R Sadgrove, Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer
B.Com Acc. & Fin. (UWA), ACA (Aust.) (aged 43)
Mr Sadgrove was appointed Company Secretary on 1 October 2008 and Chief Financial Officer in November 2008. He gained his
Chartered Accountant qualifications whilst employed with Ernst & Young (Australia, audit division) and has over 15 years’
experience in accounting for listed multinational corporations both within Australia and the United Kingdom.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
Troy Resources NL is a No Liability Company which was incorporated in Victoria in 1984 and is domiciled in Australia with its
registered office in Perth, Western Australia. The Company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange (“ASX”) in 1987 and the
Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) in Canada in February 2008. The Company’s ordinary shares trade on the ASX and on the TSX
under the code “TRY”.
Additional Company information can be found in Note 34 to the Financial Statements.
Information on Subsidiaries and group structure can be found in Note 29 to the Financial Statements.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Consolidated Entity during the year were gold and silver production through its operations at
Sandstone in Western Australia, Andorinhas in Brazil and Casposo in Argentina. Exploration activities, principally for gold and
silver, continued during the year concentrating primarily on the Andorinhas and adjoining joint venture tenements in Brazil and
the Casposo area in Argentina.
During the year the Consolidated Entity’s new Casposo gold silver operation in Argentina commenced production and its
Sandstone gold operation located in Western Australia processed final reserve stockpiles up to September 2010 and then
transitioned to care and maintenance.
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OPERATING RESULTS
The Group Profit from ordinary activities after tax and non-controlling interests for the year ended 30 June 2011 was
$14,648,000 (2010: Loss $6,735,000). The Profit for the year included a profit (before tax) on the disposal of equity
investments of $4,207,000 (2010: $4,427,000) and was after the allowance for $5,390,000 of exploration expenditure (2010:
$6,993,000), and depreciation and the amortisation of $24,914,000 (2010: $14,992,000).
The basic earnings per share for the year was 16.7 cents per share (2010: loss 8.0 cents) and earnings of 16.5 cents per share
on a fully diluted basis (2010: loss 8.0 cents).

DIVIDENDS
In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2011, the Company paid a fully franked interim dividend of 4.0 cents per share
on 29 June 2011. The Directors will consider a final dividend declaration in October 2011.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The financial year ended 30 June 2011 was a period of growth for the Troy group with commencement of production at the new
Casposo gold silver project in Argentina and record production at the Andorinhas gold project in Brazil. The Sandstone gold operation
processed final reserve stockpiles up to September 2010 and then transitioned to care and maintenance.
Revenue from Gold and Silver sales totalled $102,451,000 (2010: 75,224,000) for the year.
Troy’s total production for the FY2011 year was 71,614 ounces of gold and 224,537 ounces of silver or 76,983 gold equivalent
ounces (2010: 61,451 gold ounces).
Troy’s wholly owned Andorinhas operation in Brazil now principally comprises the Mamão underground mine. Mining activities at
the Mamão underground mine continued throughout the 2011 financial year. Existing low grade stockpiles from the previously
mined Lagoa Seca open pit were used to supplement the processing during two months of the year.
The Andorinhas gold operation produced a record of 49,099 ounces of gold for the year (2010: 31,568 ounces) at an average
cash cost of US$519 per ounce (2010: US$634) from the processing of 236,545 tonnes of ore (2010: 232,718 tonnes) at an
average grade of 7.07g/t (2010: 4.59g/t).
Troy’s wholly owned Sandstone operation in Western Australia produced a total of 5,409 ounces of gold for the year (2010:
29,885 ounces) at an average cash cost of A$846 per ounce (2010: A$1,000) from the processing of 96,992 tonnes of ore
(2010: 474,704 tonnes) at an average grade of 1.72 grams per tonne (2010: 2.1g/t).
Troy’s wholly owned Casposo operation in Argentina poured first gold in November 2010 and reached commercial production
levels from March 2011, producing 17,106 ounces of gold (2010: Nil) and 224,537 ounces of silver (2010: Nil), from the
processing of 81,481 tonnes of ore at an average gold grade of 7.51g/t (2010: Nil) and silver grade of 117.5g/t (2010: Nil).
Casposo cash costs on a by-product basis were US$580 (net of silver credits) (2010: Nil). The total gold equivalent ounces
produced at Casposo were 22,475 (2010: Nil) with cash costs on a co-product basis of US$815 per ounce.
Total exploration expenditure for the financial year totalled $8,274,000 (2010: $6,993,000), of which $2,884,000 was
capitalised in relation to the Kamila South East extension at the Casposo project in Argentina, based on exploration results
achieved to date indicating recoupment is reasonably assured. Therefore net exploration expensed directly to the profit and loss
in the current financial year totalled $5,390,000 (2010: $6,993,000).

CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS
During the financial year there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity other than those
referred to in the Financial Statements and notes thereto.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE
There has not been any matter or circumstance, except for those matters referred to in Note 30 to the Financial Statements, that
has arisen since the end of the financial year, that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the
Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity in future financial years.
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FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
Troy is committed to pursuing growth through exploration, acquisition of new projects and/or corporate merger activity.
Current remaining reserves for the Casposo gold silver project in Argentina are in excess of 440,000 gold equivalent ounces.
Casposo production for the FY2012 year is currently forecast at greater than 80,000 gold equivalent ounces from Kamila open
pit ore.
The Andorinhas gold project in Brazil is expected to process high grade underground ore from the Mamão mine for the majority of the
financial year with the remainder of the processing sourced from a new small open pit at Coruja and the low grade open cut stockpiles
on-hand. Andorinhas production for the FY2012 year is currently forecast at 50,000 ounces of gold.
The forward-looking statements above reflect management’s current beliefs based on information currently available to
management and are based on what management believes to be reasonable assumptions. A number of factors could cause actual
results, performance, or achievements to differ materially from the results expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements.
Such factors include, among others, future prices of gold and silver, the actual results of current production, development and/or
exploration activities, changes in project parameters as plans continue to be refined, variations in ore grade or recovery rates,
plant and/or equipment failure, delays in obtaining governmental approvals and constraints on supply of critical consumables
and/or power supply.

SHARE ISSUES
During the year:
•
•

350,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued following the conversion of partly paid shares into fully paid shares.
161,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued following the exercise of employee options.

SHARE OPTIONS AND EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE SHARES
During the financial year:
•

130,000 options over unissued shares were granted by Troy Resources NL under the Employee Share Option Plan;

•

632,912 options over unissued shares were issued to Investec Bank (Australia) Limited as part of the Company’s financing
arrangements;

•

111,000 options lapsed or expired in accordance with their terms;

•

70,000 performance rights over unissued fully paid shares were granted by Troy Resources NL under the Employee
Performance Rights Plan; and

•

10,000 performance rights expired in accordance with their terms.

Since the end of the financial year a further 250,000 options have been granted under the Employee Share Option Plan.
At the date of this report, there are a total of 4,681,793 unissued shares under option in Troy Resources NL at issue prices
ranging from $1.31 to $4.68. 36,000 shares in relation to performance rights were issued in September 2011. The remaining
performance rights over 24,000 fully paid ordinary shares remain subject to hurdle prices between $4.00 and $5.00 and vesting
on or after 9 September 2012. No person entitled to exercise any of these options or performance rights had or has any rights by
virtue of the options to participate in any share issue of any related corporation. For further information refer to Notes 24 and 25
to the Financial Statements.

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
The Company has a signed Deed of Access, Insurance and Indemnity with every Director of the Company and key senior officers
against a liability to another person, other than the Company or a related body corporate of the Company, provided that:
a) the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 (including, but not limited to, Chapter 2E) are complied with in relation to the
giving of the indemnity; and
b) the liability does not arise in respect of conduct involving a lack of good faith on the part of the Director or Officer.
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During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of an insurance policy covering the Directors of the Company,
the Company Secretaries and all senior officers of the Company and of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as
such a director, secretary or senior officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The amount of the premium
paid on the policy was $53,975 (2010: $55,565).
The Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the
Company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS
The Consolidated Entity is committed to a high standard of environmental performance and during the year has not received any
fines or prosecutions under any environmental laws or regulations. The Consolidated Entity did not incur any reportable
environmental incidents during the year.
Troy Resources NL is a voluntary signatory to the Australian Minerals Industry Code for Environmental Management.

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
The numbers of meetings of the Company’s board of directors and of each board committee held during the year ended 30 June
2011, and the numbers of meetings attended by each director were:

Director
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
(1)
(2)

DR Dix(1)
P Benson(2)
GR Chambers
FS Grimwade(3)
JLC Jones
KK Nilsson
CRW Parish
JAS Dow(4)

Board
Meetings
Held
Attended
13
11
13
8
13
13
13
9

13
11
13
8
13
13
13
8

Audit
Committee Meetings
Held
Attended
3
1
3
3

3
1
3
3

1
2
2
2
(3)

Appointed as Non-Executive Chairman on 25 November 2010.
Appointed as Managing Director on 13 September 2010.

Remuneration
Committee Meetings
Held
Attended

(4)

1
2
2
2

Nomination
Committee Meetings
Held
Attended
1
1
1

Elected as a Non-Executive Director on 25 November 2010.
Resigned on 5 March 2011.

INTEREST IN THE SHARES AND OPTIONS OF THE COMPANY
The relevant interest of each Director in the share capital and options of the Company as at the date of this report is:
Number of Fully Paid Shares
Director
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr

DR Dix
P Benson
GR Chambers
FS Grimwade
JLC Jones
KK Nilsson
CRW Parish

Beneficial
87,013
146,500
23,332
20,000
1,239,061
85,239
153,251
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1
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-
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)
This report outlines the compensation arrangements in place for Directors and Senior Management of Troy Resources NL (“the
Company”). The report is set out under the following main headings:
A.
B.
C.
D.
E.
F.

Directors and Senior Management details;
Principles used to determine the components and amount of compensation;
Company performance;
Specific details of compensation paid to Directors and Senior Management;
Details of share-based compensation; and
Employment Contracts.

A.

Directors and Senior Management details
The Directors of Troy Resources NL during or since the end of the year were:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

DR Dix
P Benson
GR Chambers
FS Grimwade
JLC Jones
KK Nilsson
CRW Parish
JAS Dow

Non-Executive Chairman (appointed Chairman 25 November 2010);
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer (appointed Managing Director 13 September 2010);
Non-Executive Director;
Non-Executive Director (elected 25 November 2010);
Non-Executive Director;
Executive Director of Project Development (currently residing in Argentina);
Non-Executive Director; and
Non-Executive Director (resigned 5 March 2011).

The term “Senior Management” is used in the remuneration report to refer to the following persons. Except as noted, the named
persons held their current position for the whole of the financial year and since the end of the financial year:
•
•
•
•
•

PJ Doyle
DR Sadgrove
DW Otterman
KD Ross
GK Brennan

Vice President – Exploration and Business Development;
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary;
Chief Geologist;
Operations Manager – Australia; and
Registered Mine Manager – Australia. (Redundancy 22 October 2010).

During the year, the Consolidated Entity had subsidiaries in the Argentina, Brazil and Canada where the duties of the
Company Secretary, or its equivalent, have been assigned to a local legal firm to provide the relevant residential country
support. In these cases there is no specific individual occupying the position of Company Secretary.
B.

Principles used to determine the components and amount of compensation

i)

Remuneration Philosophy

The performance of the Consolidated Entity is dependent upon the quality of its Directors and Executives. To continue its growth,
the Consolidated Entity must attract, motivate and retain highly skilled Directors and Senior Management.
Remuneration is set at a competitive level which is commensurate with the level of experience, skill, qualifications and
duties of the person and set within the Consolidated Entity’s capacity to pay.
ii)

Remuneration Structure

In accordance with corporate governance best practice, the structure and remuneration review of Non-Executive Directors
and Senior Management, including Executive Directors, is separate and distinct.
iii)

Non-Executive Director Remuneration

In accordance with the Company’s Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules, the aggregate remuneration of Non-Executive
Directors is determined from time to time by the Company’s shareholders at a General Meeting.
The current determination was made at the General Meeting held on 28 November 2007 when an aggregate remuneration
of $600,000 per annum was approved.
The Executive Directors, in the absence of the Non-Executive Directors, determine an appropriate allocation of this
aggregate to be apportioned amongst the Non-Executive Directors. In determining an appropriate remuneration level, the
Executive Directors consider reports from external consultants, the level of fees paid to Non-Executive Directors of
comparable companies and the amount of time required to fulfil their duties to the shareholders.
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Non-Executive Director remuneration is paid as a cash fee plus applicable superannuation entitlements, and they qualify to
participate in the Company’s Employee Share Option Scheme, although any allocation must be approved by the
Shareholders in a general meeting. There is no retirement benefit plan for Non-Executive Directors.
The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors for the financial year ended 30 June 2011 and 2010 is detailed on pages 41
to 43 of this Report.
iv)

Remuneration Committee

The Company has a formally constituted Remuneration Committee which is responsible for determining and reviewing
remuneration for the Executive Directors and Senior Management. This Committee is composed of Mr DR Dix (Committee
Chairman), Mr GR Chambers and Mr JLC Jones, all of whom are Non-Executive Directors of the Company.
The responsibilities and functions of the Remuneration Committee include:
•

Review the competitiveness of the Consolidated Entity’s and Company’s Senior Management compensation programmes
to ensure:
a) the attraction and retention of Senior Management;
b) the motivation of Company officers to achieve the Company’s business objectives; and
c) to align the interest of key leadership with the long-term interests of the Company’s shareholders.

•

Review trends in management compensation, oversee the development of new compensation plans and, when necessary,
approve the revision of existing plans.

•

Review the performance of Senior Management.

•

Review and approve the Chairman’s and Chief Executive Officer’s goals and objectives, evaluate their performance in
light of these corporate objectives, and set the compensation levels for Executive Directors to be consistent with
Company philosophy.

•

Review the salaries, bonus and other compensation for Senior Management. The Committee will recommend appropriate
salary, bonus and other compensation to the Board for approval.

•

Review and approve compensation packages for new Senior Management and termination packages for corporate officers
as requested by management.

•

Review and make recommendations concerning long-term incentive compensation plans, including the use of share
options.

The Remuneration Committee reviews salary packages on an annual basis, usually in June/July, and at other times where a
specific case is referred to it by the Board or management.
v)

Executive Director and Senior Management Personnel Remuneration

The Consolidated Entity aims to reward Senior Management with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate with their
qualifications, skills, position and responsibilities within the organisation.
To assist in determining the level and composition of remuneration, the Consolidated Entity subscribes to independent
research reports which detail remuneration levels in the Australian mining industry for executive and general operating
positions. The Remuneration Committee also has access to salary and remuneration reports from various human resource
and recruitment agencies.
Remuneration consists of the following components:
a) Fixed Remuneration
b) Variable Remuneration comprising:
i) Short-term Incentives/Rewards
ii) Long-term Incentives
c) Special Benefits
a) Fixed Remuneration

Fixed Remuneration comprises the base pay of employees and includes their annual salary, superannuation and prescribed
non-financial fixed benefits such as provision of a motor vehicle, car allowance etc.
Executives are offered a competitive salary package as this forms the base of their remuneration. Base salary is reviewed
annually to ensure remuneration is competitive with the general market range. This is very important as most Senior
Management do not receive any Short Term Incentive/Reward component in their package.
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b)(i) Variable Remuneration – Short-term Incentives/Rewards

The Chief Executive and the General Manager of the Andorinhas project in Brazil are both due annual bonuses under their
employment contracts based upon the achievement of goals and objectives that have been set in consultation with the
Remuneration Committee of the Board and on the Board’s assessment of their performance generally.
The Board may also pay cash bonuses to other Senior Management staff based upon achievement of goals and objectives
which have been set by the Chief Executive.
b)(ii) Variable Remuneration – Long-term Incentives

Long-term incentives are predominantly provided through participation in the Company’s Employee Share Option Plan and
Performance Rights Plan.
The objective of the Employee Share Option Plan and Performance Rights Plan is to reward employees in a manner which
aligns them with those of the shareholders of the Company. Additional details of the Employee Share Option Plan and
Performance Rights Plan can be found at Note 25 to the Financial Statements.
The Employee Share Option Plan and Performance Rights Plan is open to all employees and allocations are made at the
discretion of the Remuneration Committee and the Board, in terms of both amounts and timing. In general, larger allocations
are made to senior executives who have a greater impact on the direction, management and performance of the Company.
Details of share options and performance rights granted to Directors and other Senior Management of the Consolidated
Entity during the year are detailed in Section E of the Remuneration Report below. Since the end of the financial year, nil
share options were granted to Directors and other Senior Management of the Consolidated Entity.
c) Special Benefits

The Consolidated Entity may grant a special benefit to an employee in certain circumstances. These special benefits may
include house rental and/or relocation payment for employees that are being relocated to commence their employment with,
or change position within, the Consolidated Entity’s operations. Benefits could also include payment of spouse or family
travel when accompanying an executive on Company business.
Special Benefits are not considered to be a regular part of a Senior Manager’s remuneration, but are granted due to irregular
special circumstances referable to the person’s employment or work with the Company. There were no special benefits paid
in 2011 or 2010.
C.

Company Performance
The following table shows the performance of the Consolidated Entity over the past five years based on several key indicators:
Financial Years Ended 30 June

Basic Earnings/(Loss) per Share (cents) (1)
Diluted Earnings/(Loss) per Share (cents) (1)
Shareholders’ Funds ($m)
Dividends per Share (cents)
Net Profit/(Loss) Before Tax (A$m)
Net Profit/(Loss) After Tax & Minorities (A$m)
Operating Revenue (A$m)
Gold Equivalent Production – Equity (ozs)
Share Price at beginning of the year (A$/Share)
Share Price at end of the year (A$/share)
Market Capitalisation (A$m)
Please note:

(1)

2011

2010

2009

2008

2007

16.7

(8.0)

21.6

(24.7)

32.0

16.5
109.7
4.0
16.5
16.6
102.5
76,983
$2.45
$3.48
306

(8.0)

21.6

(24.7)

32.0

129.2

114.9
4.0

116.8
3.0

110.4
7.5

19.3
16.7

(16.5)
(17.6)

28.8
20.1

-

(6.9)
(6.8)
75.2

75.4

39.7

91.8

61,453
$1.35

61,786
$2.00

40,318
$2.41

105,723
$2.60

$2.45
214

$1.35
94

$2.00
150

$2.41
152

Basic and Diluted Earnings/(Loss) per share have been retrospectively adjusted for 1 for 6 rights issue in December 2009.

During the year ended 30 June 2011 certain performance rights were granted to directors and senior management.
On vesting each performance right equates to one ordinary share. The performance rights are subject to various vesting
conditions. One such vesting condition is that the share price must meet or exceed certain pre-defined share price targets
for a continuous 10 day period, should any of the vesting conditions fail to be achieved the performance rights will not vest,
consequently there is a direct link between the creation of shareholder wealth and share-based payment remuneration.
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D.

Details of Director and Other Senior Management Personnel Remuneration
Compensation packages contain the following key elements:
a) Short-term employee benefits: salary/fees, bonuses allowances and non-monetary benefits including the provision of
fully maintained motor vehicles, insurance benefits;
b) Post-employment benefits: including superannuation and prescribed retirement benefits; and
c) Equity: share options granted under the Employee Share Option Plan or Performance Rights as disclosed in Note 25 to
the Financial Statements.
The following table discloses the compensation of the Directors and Other Senior Management Personnel of the Company:
2011

Name

Short-term Employee Benefits
Long
NonCash Salary
Cash
Service
monetary
& Fees
Bonus(a)
Leave(b)
Benefits(c)
$
$
$
$

Post-employment Benefits
Superannuation
$

Retirement
Benefits
$

Equity
Sharebased
Payments
$

Total
$

Non-Executive Directors
DR Dix(1)
GR Chambers(2)
FS Grimwade(3)
JLC Jones
CRW Parish
JAS Dow(4)
Sub-total

109,641
65,956
41,737
76,000
71,000
79,129
443,463

-

-

-

9,868
3,756
6,840
20,464

-

-

119,509
65,956
45,493
82,840
71,000
79,129
463,927

Executive Directors
P Benson(5)
KK Nilsson
Sub-total

479,400
357,949
837,349

75,000
75,000

13,018
10,021
23,039

37,062
37,062

43,146
22,218
65,364

-

132,620
13,876
146,496

780,246
404,064
1,184,310

267,016
255,098
149,633
226,325
113,475
1,011,547
2,292,359

30,000
60,000
90,000
165,000

6,219
13,095
6,857
6,760
32,931
55,970

16,783
14,550
31,333
68,395

50,000
22,959
44,677
38,327
7,528
163,491
249,319

223,506
223,506
223,506

29,510
29,510
3,311
18,755
81,086
227,582

382,745
397,445
219,028
290,167
344,509
1,633,894
3,282,131

Other Senior Management
PJ Doyle
DR Sadgrove
KD Ross(6)
DW Otterman
GK Brennan(7)
Sub-total
TOTAL
(1)

Appointed Chairman on 25 November 2010.

(2)

Mr GR Chambers does not receive a fixed directors’ fee. He is remunerated at commercial hourly rates paid to his Canadian Law Practice “Lawson Lundell LLP”
for actual time spent in his capacity as a Board director and Committee member. Refer also to Note 24(c)(ii) of the Annual Financial Statements “Related Party
Transactions” for amounts paid to Lawson Lundell LLP.

(3)

Elected as a Non-Executive Director on 25 November 2010.

(4)

Retired from the board on 5 March 2011.

(5)

Mr Benson was appointed Managing Director on 13 September 2010. His remuneration includes all amounts received by him during the financial year in his
capacity as Chief Executive Officer.

(6)

Mr Ross has worked on a part-time basis since the Sandstone Plant moved to care and maintenance in October 2010.

(7)

Mr Brennan received redundancy due to closure of Sandstone Plant processing. Redundancy and leave payouts are included under retirement benefits.

Cash bonuses as a percentage of the total compensation are:
•
•
•

P Benson
P Doyle
D Sadgrove

9.7%
7.9%
15.6%

NOTES (a) to (c) 2011.
Messrs Benson, Doyle and Sadgrove were granted a cash bonus which was reported and paid in 2010/2011, following a review by the Remuneration
Committee. The bonus is in recognition of their contribution during 2009/2010 and was set in accordance with the criteria in section B above. The
bonuses were granted in September 2010 at the discretion of the board.
(b)
Includes the value of non-cash long service leave expense accrued by the company.
(c)
Includes the value of non-cash benefits such as the provision of a fully maintained motor vehicle and fuel. The benefits reported include amounts paid for
fringe benefits tax, where applicable.
(a)
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2010

Short-term Employee Benefits

Post-employment Benefits

Other Cash
Benefits(b)
$

Retirement
Benefits
$

Name
Non-Executive Directors
JAS Dow
GR Chambers(1)
DR Dix(2)
JLC Jones
CRW Parish(3)
PAK Naylor(4)
DE Clarke(4)
Sub-total

134,073
76,886
30,726
70,073
41,922
31,667
34,167
419,514

-

55,200
17,657
72,857

-

2,765
6,306
2,850
3,075
14,996

76,000
82,000
158,000

-

189,273
94,543
33,491
76,379
41,922
110,517
119,242
665,367

Executive Directors
P Benson (5)
KK Nilsson
Sub-total

470,000
353,000
823,000

200,000
100,000
300,000

-

37,062
4,510
41,572

42,300
31,770
74,070

-

91,850
31,291
123,141

841,212
520,571
1,361,783

Other Senior Management
PJ Doyle
266,300
DR Sadgrove
250,000
KD Ross
194,160
DW Otterman
209,420
GK Brennan
227,200
Sub-total
1,147,080
TOTAL
2,389,594

50,000
20,000
70,000
370,000

72,857

14,943
28,373
43,316
84,888

44,500
22,500
50,000
50,000
20,448
187,448
276,514

158,000

37,991
37,991
8,450
23,688
108,120
231,261

398,791
345,343
280,983
283,108
247,648
1,555,964
3,583,114

Cash
Bonus(a)
$

Nonmonetary
Benefits(c)
$

Equity
Sharebased
Payments
$

Cash
Salary &
Fees
$

Superannuation
$

Total
$

(1)

Mr GR Chambers does not receive a fixed directors’ fee. He is remunerated at commercial hourly rates paid to his Canadian Law Practice “Lawson Lundell
LLP” for actual time spent in his capacity as a Board director and Committee member. Refer also to Note 24(c)(ii) of the Annual Financial Statements
“Related Party Transactions” for amounts paid to Lawson Lundell LLP.

(2)

Appointed 28 January 2010.

(3)

Appointed 27 November 2009.

(4)

Messrs Clarke and Naylor ceased as Directors’ on 27 November 2009.

(5)

Mr Benson resigned as a Director on 27 November 2009 and was reappointed on 13 September 2010. His remuneration includes all amounts received by
him during the financial year in his capacity as Chief Executive Officer.

Cash bonuses as a percentage of the total compensation are:
•
•
•
•

P Benson
K Nilsson
P Doyle
D Sadgrove

23.8%
19.2%
12.5%
5.8%

NOTES (a) to (c):
(a)

Messrs Benson, Nilsson, Doyle and Sadgrove were granted a cash bonus which was reported and paid in 2009/2010, following a review by the
Remuneration Committee. The bonus is in recognition of their contribution during 2008/2009 and was set in accordance with the criteria in section B
above. The bonuses were granted in August 2009 at the discretion of the board.

(b)

Messrs Dow and Chambers received additional fees in relation to the one off additional duties performed regarding the s249D Notice and the EGM called
(and subsequently cancelled).

(c)

Includes the value of non-cash benefits such as the provision of a fully maintained motor vehicle and fuel. The benefits reported include amounts paid for
fringe benefits tax, where applicable.
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E.

Value of Performance Rights/Options issued to Key Management Personnel
The following Performance Rights/Options were granted, vested, exercised or lapsed in relation to Directors and Senior
Management during the 2011 year:
2011

Performance Rights/
Options Granted

Name

Value at
grant
date
$

Number
granted
No.

Options
Vested

Options Exercised

Options
Lapsed

Number
exercised
No.

Value at
exercise
date
$

Number
vested
during the
year
No.

Number
lapsed
No.

Total value
of rights/
options
granted (1)
$

-

-

250,000
66,000
66,000
16,500
43,000

-

42,401
23,958
23,958
15,972

Executive Directors and Senior Management
P Benson
20,000
42,401
KK Nilsson
PJ Doyle
15,000
23,958
DR Sadgrove
15,000
23,958
KD Ross
DW Otterman
10,000
15,972

Value of
rights/
options
included in
remuneration
for the year
(2)

$

Percentage of
total
remuneration
for the year
that consists
of rights/
options
%

132,620
13,876
29,510
29,510
3,311
18,755

17%
4%
8%
8%
2%
7%

Value of options – basis of calculation:
(1) The total value of options granted, exercised and lapsed is calculated based on the following:
•
•
•

Fair value of the right/option at grant date multiplied by the number of options granted during the year;
Fair value of the option at the time it is exercised multiplied by the number of options exercised during the year;
Fair value of the option at the time of lapse multiplied by the number of options lapsed during the year.

(2) The total value of options included in compensation for the year is calculated in accordance with Accounting Standards. This requires the following:
•

The value of the options is determined at grant date and is included in remuneration on a proportionate basis as vesting occurs.

•

The options vest over a period of time, therefore, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 2 “Share Based Payment” only the portion of the
total fair value of the options at vesting date is included in remuneration for the financial year.

During the financial year, the following share-based payment arrangements for executive directors and senior management
were in existence:

(i)
(ii)

Grant Date

Expiry Date

Grant Date Fair Value (i)
$

Final Vesting Date (ii)

Option Series
Issued 28 November 2007
Issued 23 April 2008
Issued 7 October 2008
Issued 26 November 2008
Issued 17 June 2009

28 Nov 07
23 Apr 08
7 Oct 08
26 Nov 08
17 Jun 09

3 Oct 12
23 Apr 12
7 Oct 12
7 Oct 12
17 Jun 13

1.18
0.69
0.23
0.23
0.42

3 Oct 11
23 Apr 11
7 Oct 11
7 Oct 11
17 Jun 12

Performance Right Series
Issued 9 September 2010

9 Sep 10

9 Sep 14

1.75

9 Sep 12

Fair value at grant has been calculated on a weighted average basis.
For details of each vesting tranche refer note 25 of the financial statements.

Share options are subject to tranche vesting dates, these options lapse if the holder ceases to be an employee or director of
the company or its associated body corporate except in certain circumstances.
Performance rights entitle the holder to fully paid ordinary shares issued for $nil consideration, subject to the holder
remaining an employee or director of the company or its associated body corporate, and exceeding hurdle price conditions
as referred to in Note 25 of the financial statements.
F.

Employment Contracts
The only Director or Member of Senior Management with an employment contract at 30 June 2011 is Mr P Benson. Mr Benson
is Chief Executive Officer of the Company having been appointed to that role on 3 October 2007. Mr Benson resigned as a
Director of the Company on 27 November 2009 and was reappointed as Managing Director on 13 September 2010.
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The major provisions of his contract are as follows:
•

no fixed term;

•

base salary of $440,000 per annum at October 2007, superannuation contributions of 9% of salary, to be reviewed as
at 30 June every year;

•

receive a grant of 1,000,000 options on commencement of appointment;

•

may receive a cash bonus of up to 30% of his salary upon the achievement of certain pre-determined goals and
objectives set in consultation with the Board;

•

may terminate his employment with the Company upon giving six months’ notice in writing to the Company; and

•

shall receive a termination benefit from the Company, if he is terminated for reasons other than serious misconduct,
equal to the cash equivalent of six months of his base salary as at the date of termination.

All other Executive Directors and Members of Senior Management are on letter employment agreements which provide for
one months’ notice of termination by either party, except in the case of serious misconduct where the Company may
terminate immediately.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
The auditor of the Company and its subsidiaries is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. The Company has a policy in accordance with
Corporate Governance best practice that the tax services and other general accounting advice and services, should not be
performed by the Company’s auditor. However, the Company may employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory
audit duties where the auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company and/or the Consolidated Entity are important and
closely related to their work as auditor of the Company.
The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors of the Company are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the
auditor is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The nature
and scope of non-audit services provided do not compromise the independence of the auditor.
A copy of the auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on
page 46.
Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for audit and non-audit services provided during the financial year are outlined
in Note 23 to the Financial Statements.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
The Company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with
that Class Order amounts in the Directors’ Report and the Financial Report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars,
unless otherwise indicated.
Signed at West Perth, Western Australia, this 29th day of September 2011 in accordance with a resolution of Directors made
pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the Directors of Troy Resources NL

DAVID DIX
Non-Executive Chairman
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 490 121 060
Woodside Plaza
Level 14
240 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000
GPO Box A46
Perth WA 6837 Australia
Tel: +61 (0) 8 9365 7000
Fax: +61 (0) 8 9365 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

The Board of Directors
Troy Resources NL
44 Ord Street
West Perth WA 6005

29 September 2011
Dear Board Members
Troy Resources NL
In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the
following declaration of independence to the directors of Troy Resources NL.
As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Troy Resources NL for the
financial year ended 30 June 2011, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there
have been no contraventions of:
(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to
the audit; and
(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Yours sincerely

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
Ross Jerrard
Partner
Chartered Accountants

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited.
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Notes

Revenue from continuing operations

3

Cost of sales

Gross Profit

2011

2010

($’000)

($’000)

102,451

75,224

(75,379)

(70,386)

27,072

4,838

7,563

6,196

Exploration expenses

(5,390)

(6,993)

Administration expenses

Other income

3

(8,453)

(10,283)

Other expenses – Corporate

(586)

(597)

Care and maintenance costs

(340)

Finance costs

(3,325)

Profit/(Loss) before income tax expense

4

16,541

Income tax (expense)/benefit

5

(1,907)

Profit/(Loss) for the year

(54)
(6,893)
100

14,634

(6,793)

14,648

(6,735)

Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent
Non-controlling interests

(14)
14,634

(58)
(6,793)

Earnings Per Share (EPS)/(Loss Per Share)
Basic EPS (cents)

20

16.7

(8.0)

Diluted EPS (cents)

20

16.5

(8.0)

Notes to the Financial Statements are included on pages 52 to 94.
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Notes

Profit/(Loss) for the year

2011

2010

($’000)

($’000)

14,634

(6,793)

(3,111)

1,921

(29,527)

(4,920)

Other comprehensive income
Changes in value of available-for-sale assets
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive incomes
Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

17

(284)

(32,621)

(3,283)

(17,987)

(10,076)

(17,969)

(10,019)

(18)

(57)

(17,987)

(10,076)

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest

Notes to the Financial Statements are included on pages 52 to 94.
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2011

2010

($’000)

($’000)

27,941
7,324
14,029
-

16,432
8,681
10,692
42

49,294

35,847

53,070
44,131
2,884
6,461
406
4,468

51,797
54,697
5,397
2,741
280

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

111,420

114,912

TOTAL ASSETS

160,714

150,759

8,997
2,317
189
3,938
12,500

7,165
549
2,334
4,000
-

27,941

14,048

4,071
2,432
16,589

5,539
678
1,308

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

23,092

7,525

TOTAL LIABILITIES

51,033

21,573

109,681

129,186

97,596
(29,782)
42,103
109,917
(236)

96,022
2,407
30,975
129,404
(218)

109,681

129,186

Notes
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Current tax asset

6
7
9
5

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Mine and development properties
Exploration properties
Receivables
Other financial assets
Deferred tax assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Current tax payables
Deferred consideration on acquisition
Provisions
Borrowings

10
11
12
7
8
5

13
5
14
15
16

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities
Provisions
Borrowings

5
15
16

NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves
Retained earnings
Parent interest
Non-controlling interests
TOTAL EQUITY

17
18
19

Notes to the Financial Statements are included on pages 52 to 94.
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Share
Capital
($’000)

Availablefor-Sale
Reserve
($’000)

Option
Premium
Reserve
($’000)

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Reserve
($’000)

Retained
Earnings
($’000)

Attributable
to Equity
Holder of
Parent
($’000)

96,022

2,428

3,718

(3,739)

30,975

129,404

(218)

129,186

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

14,648

14,648

(14)

14,634

Changes in fair value of availablefor-sale assets, net of tax

-

-

-

-

(3,094)

-

(3,094)

Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations

-

Total comprehensive income for
the year

-

Issue of fully paid shares

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,155

-

-

-

-

1,155

-

1,155

419

-

(85)

-

-

334

-

334

Share-based payments

-

-

525

-

-

525

-

525

(12)

-

(12)

-

(12)

(3,520)

-

(3,520)

Balance at 1 July 2010

Partly paid shares converted to
ordinary fully paid shares
Issue of fully paid shares on
conversion of options

(3,094)
(3,094)

Noncontrolling
Interest
($’000)

TOTAL
($’000)

-

(29,523)

-

(29,523)

(4)

(29,527)

-

(29,523)

14,648

(17,969)

(18)

(17,987)

Share-based borrowing costs

-

-

Dividends payable/paid

-

-

Balance at 30 June 2011

97,596

(666)

4,146

(33,262)

42,103

109,917

(236)

109,681

Balance at 1 July 2009

70,001

791

2,361

1,182

40,705

115,040

(161)

114,879

Loss for the year

-

-

-

-

Changes in fair value of availablefor-sale assets, net of tax

-

1,637

-

-

Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations

-

-

-

(4,921)

Total comprehensive income for
the year

-

1,637

-

(4,921)

25,512

-

-

-

-

25,512

-

25,512

1,960

-

-

-

-

1,960

-

1,960

Issue of fully paid shares
Partly paid shares converted to
ordinary fully paid shares
Issue of fully paid shares on
conversion of options
Share issue cost
Share-based payments

36
(1,487)
-

-

-

(6,735)

1,637

-

(4,921)

1

(4,920)

(6,735)

-

-

-

-

-

-

560

-

-

-

-

803

-

-

-

-

Balance at 30 June 2010

96,022

2,428

3,718

Notes to the Financial Statements are included on pages 52 to 94.

(3,739)

(6,793)

-

(6)

-

(58)

1,637

-

Share-based borrowing costs

(6,735)

-

-

Dividends payable/paid
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(3,520)

(2,995)
30,975

(10,019)

30
(1,487)
560
803
(2,995)
129,404

(57)

(218)

(10,076)

30
(1,487)
560
803
(2,995)
129,186

TROY RESOURCES NL | AR 2011
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Notes

2011

2010

($’000)

($’000)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers

109,846

67,616

Payments to suppliers and employees

(70,169)

(69,232)

Proceeds from sundry income
Income taxes paid
NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

32(b)

1,125

1,945

(4,509)

(1,061)

36,293

(732)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
(20,440)

Payments for property, plant and equipment

(28,293)

(5,937)

(2,799)

Payments for mine and development properties

(16,307)

(13,598)

Payments for exploration properties capitalised

(2,884)

Payments for power line commitments

Payments for exploration expensed

(5,390)

Payment of deferred consideration

(1,695)

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on sale of investment securities
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary
Interest received
NET CASH (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(6,993)
-

576

44

4,503

4,735

-

383

443

980

(47,131)

(45,541)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Borrowings – Investec Bank (Australia) Limited

27,000

Payments of debt raising costs

(2,560)
1,489

Proceeds from issues of equity securities

-

Payments of equity raising costs

3,000
(914)
27,501
(1,487)

Dividends paid – members of parent entity

(2,988)

(2,986)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES

22,941

25,114

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

12,103

(21,159)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year

16,432

37,646

Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in
foreign currencies
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year

(594)
32(a)

27,941

(55)
16,432

The notes to the Financial Statements are included pages 52 to 94.
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1.

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance
These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and comply with other requirements of the law.
The financial statements comprise the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Accounting Standards include Australian
Accounting Standards. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes of the
company and the Group comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors at a meeting held on 29 September 2011.
Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation of financial
instruments. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets.
In the application of the group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstance, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The
estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.
Judgments made by management in the application of the group’s accounting policies that have significant effects on the
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustments in the next year are disclosed, where
applicable, in the relevant notes to the financial statements.
Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies the
concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is
reported.
Comparative financial information
The following comparative financial information has been reclassified to aid comparability with the current year, and more
appropriately reflect the nature of the items concerned. None of the adjustments affect profit before or after tax or net assets.
Brazil operations administration costs of $2.4 million have been reclassified from administration expenses to cost of sales for the
year-ended 30 June 2010.
Mine properties have been reclassified from Property, plant and equipment to Mine and development properties along with
Mineral Resources – development project for the year-ended 30 June 2010.
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key accounting judgements and assumptions, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
balance sheet date and concerning the future, that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements and/or have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year:
Ore Reserve Estimates

Estimates of recoverable quantities of ore reserves include assumptions regarding commodity prices, exchange rates, discount
rates, and production costs for future cash flows. It also requires interpretation of complex and difficult geological models in
order to make an assessment of the size, shape, depth and quality of resources and their anticipated recoveries. The economic,
geological and technical factors used to estimate ore reserves may change from period to period. Changes in reported ore reserves
can impact mining properties carrying values, property, plant and equipment carrying values, the provision for restoration and the
recognition of deferred tax assets, due to changes in expected future cash flows. Ore reserves are integral to the amount of
depreciation, depletion and amortisation charged to the income statement and the calculation of inventory.
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Rehabilitation obligations

The Consolidated entity estimates the future removal costs of mine operations disturbances at the time of installation of the
assets and commencement of operations. In most instances, removal of assets occurs many years into the future. This requires
judgemental assumptions regarding removal date, the extent of reclamation activities required the engineering methodology for
estimating cost, future removal technologies in determining the removal cost, and asset specific discount rates to determine the
present value of these cash flows.
Significant Accounting Policies
The following significant policies have been adopted in the preparation of the Financial Report:
a)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash includes cash on hand and in banks, and money market investments readily convertible to cash within two working
days, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are carried at the principal amount. Interest is recognised as
income or expense as it accrues.
b)

Receivables

Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded at amortised cost less impairment.
c)

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Ore stockpiles, gold in circuit, dore and bullion are
valued applying absorption costing.
d)

Property, Plant and Equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment.
Items of property, plant and equipment, including buildings and leasehold property are depreciated/amortised using the
straight-line or reducing balance method over their estimated useful lives. Assets are depreciated or amortised from the date
of acquisition or from the time an asset is completed and held ready for use.
The depreciation and amortisation rates used for each class of asset are based on the following assessment of useful lives:
•
•

Plant and equipment
Motor vehicle

2-12 years
2-7 years

Depreciation is not charged on land. Land and buildings are recorded at cost.
Mining Assets

Mining Assets represent the accumulation of all exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred by or on
behalf of the Consolidated Entity and mining properties in relation to areas of interest.
Mining Exploration

Refer to 1(f) below. If it is established that a project has reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the
existence of economically recoverable reserves, exploration and evaluation costs ceases and the accumulated expenditures
are transferred to mining development properties.
Mining Development Properties

Refer to 1(e) below. Development costs related to an area of interest where right of tenure is current are carried forward to
the extent that they are expected to be recouped through sale or successful exploitation of the area of interest. If an area is
subsequently abandoned or the Directors believe that it is not commercial, any accumulated costs in respect of that area are
written off in the financial period the decision is made.
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e)

Mining Development Properties

Where mining of a mineral resource has commenced, the accumulated costs are transferred to mine properties.
Amortisation is first charged on new mining ventures from the date of first commercial production.
Amortisation of mine property costs is provided on the unit of production basis. The unit of production basis results in an
amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of the estimated economically recoverable ore reserves. The unit of
production basis can be on a tonnes or ounce depleted basis.
f)

Mining Exploration Properties

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the Consolidated Entity is accumulated separately for
each prospect area. Such expenditure comprises net direct costs and an appropriate portion of related overhead
expenditure, but does not include general overheads or administrative expenditure not having a specific nexus with a
particular prospect area. Each area of interest is limited to a size related to a known or probable mineral resource capable of
supporting a mining operation.
Exploration and evaluation expenditure for each prospect area is fully written off in the financial year in which it is incurred,
unless its recoupment out of revenue to be derived from the successful development of the prospect, or from sale of that
prospect, is reasonably assured.
The recoverable amount of each prospect area is assessed annually by the Directors. Where the carrying value of a prospect is in
excess of its estimated recoverable amount, the carrying value is written down to its recoverable amount.
When a prospect area is abandoned, any expenditure carried forward in respect of that area is written off to profit and loss.
Expenditure is not carried forward in respect of any prospect area unless the economic entity’s rights of tenure to that area
are current.
Once a development decision has been taken, all exploration and evaluation expenditure in respect of the prospect area is
transferred to “Mining Development Properties”.
g)

Financial Assets

Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially
measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.
Financial Assets at fair value through profit or loss

The consolidated entity has classified certain shares and options as other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets held for trading purposes are classified as current assets and are stated at fair value, with any resultant
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.
Available-for-sale financial assets

Certain shares held by the consolidated entity are classified as being available-for-sale and are stated at fair value. Gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in the available-for-sale revaluation reserve, until the
investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised
in the available-for-sale revaluation reserve is included in profit or loss for the period.
h)

Accounts Payable

Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Consolidated Entity becomes obliged to make future
payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services.
i)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).
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When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.
j)

Employee Benefits

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long service leave, and sick
leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.
Provisions made in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their nominal
values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.
Provisions made in respect of employee benefits, which are not expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured as
the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Consolidated Entity in respect of services
provided by employees up to reporting date.
The Company and its subsidiaries contribute to a defined contribution superannuation plan. Contributions to defined
contribution superannuation plans are expensed when incurred.
k)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recorded initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are
measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being
recognised in profit and loss over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest rate method.
Interest and ancillary costs incurred in connection with borrowings for the development of specific assets are deferred and
amortised or depreciated over the life of the project.
l)

Current Tax

Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit
or tax loss for the period. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the reporting date. Current tax for current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is
unpaid (or refundable).
Deferred Tax

Deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences
arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the
corresponding tax base of those items. In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against
which deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised. However, deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial recognition of assets
and liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination), which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit.
Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in relation to taxable temporary differences arising from goodwill.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and joint
ventures except where the Consolidated Entity is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with these investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period(s) when the asset
and liability giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Consolidated Entity expects, at the reporting date, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Company/Consolidated Entity intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the income statement, except when it relates to items
credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity.
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The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are part of a tax-consolidated group under Australian
taxation law. Troy Resources NL is the head entity in the tax-consolidated group. Tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities
and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of the members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised in
the separate financial statements of the members of the tax-consolidated group using the ‘separate taxpayer within the
group’ approach by reference to the carrying amounts in the separate financial statements of each entity and the tax values
applying under tax consolidation. Current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses
and relevant tax credits of the members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised by the company (as head entity in the
tax-consolidated group).
m)

Financial Instruments Issued by the Company

Debt and Equity Instruments

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangement.
Transaction Costs on the Issue of Equity Instruments

Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the proceeds
of the equity instruments to which the costs relate.
Transaction costs are the costs that are incurred directly in connection with the issue of those equity instruments and which
would not have been incurred had those instruments not been issued.
n)

Foreign Currencies

Translation of Foreign Currency Transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies of entities within the Consolidated Entity are converted to local currency at the rate of
exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.
Foreign currency monetary items that are outstanding at the reporting date are translated using the spot rate at the end of
the financial year.
Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except that:
i) Exchange differences which relate to assets under construction for future productive use are included in the cost of
those assets where they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on foreign currency borrowings;
ii) Exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and
iii) Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned or likely to occur, which form part of the net investment in a foreign operation, are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve in the consolidated financial statements and recognised in profit or loss on disposal of the
net investment.
Foreign Operations

The functional currency of the Consolidated Entity’s overseas operations differs to that of the Consolidated Entity’s
presentational currency. On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Consolidated Entity’s overseas operations are
translated at exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. Income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve,
and recognised in profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.
o)

Revenue Recognition

Sale of Goods

Revenue from the sale of mineral production is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfied:
i) the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
ii) the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor
effective control over the goods sold;
iii) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
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iv) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and
v) the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.
p)

Goods and Services Tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (“GST”), except:
i) where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or
ii) for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables. Cash
flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST component of the cash flows arising from investing
and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation office is classified as operating cash flows.
q)

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred unless they relate to qualifying assets. Qualifying assets are assets, which take
more than 12 months to get ready for their intended use or sale. In these circumstances, borrowing costs are capitalised to
the cost of the assets. Where funds are borrowed specifically for the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset, the amount of borrowing costs capitalised is those incurred in relation to that borrowing, net of any interest earned on
those borrowings. Where funds are borrowed generally, borrowing costs are capitalised using a weighted average
capitalisation rate. Interest charges are capitalised to the extent that the related debt directly finances the purchase and
construction of plant. Interest charges cease to be capitalised when the expenditure no longer satisfies the above policy or
when production commences.
r)

Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Employee Share Option Plan or Performance Rights Plan.
The fair values of options granted under the Employee Share Option Plan are recognised as an employee benefit expense
with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value of the options are calculated at the date of grant using a Binomial
model and allocated to each reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date. The expected life used
in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions, and behavioural considerations. Upon the exercise of options, the balance of the share-based payments reserve
relating to those options is transferred to share capital.
Share-based borrowing costs are recognised in equity at fair value at the date of inception, and are offset against the
applicable debt.
Performance Shares

The fair values of rights granted under the Employee Performance Rights Plan are recognised as an employee benefit
expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value of the unissued fully paid shares are calculated at the date
of grant using a Monte Carlo model and allocated to each reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting
date. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of nontransferability, hurdle price restrictions, and behavioural considerations. Upon the vesting, the balance of the share-based
payments reserve relating to those rights is transferred to share capital.
s)

Financial Liabilities and equity instruments issued by the group

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangement.
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.
Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense
recognised on an effective yield basis.
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
De-recognition of financial liabilities

The group de-recognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they
expire.
t)

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities (including special
purpose entities) controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from
the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with those used by other members of the Consolidated Entity.
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the consolidated entity’s equity therein. The interests
of non-controlling shareholders may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the
amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.
Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.
Changes in the consolidated entity’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the consolidated entity’s interests and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
When the consolidated entity loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii)
the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner as would be required if the
relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under AASB 139 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or jointly controlled entity.
u)

Joint Venture Operations

The economic entity’s interest in joint ventures is brought to account by including in their respective classification
categories the amount of:
i) the economic entity’s share in each of the individual assets employed in the joint ventures;
ii) liabilities incurred in relation to joint ventures including the economic entity’s share of liabilities for which it is jointly
and/or severally liable; and
iii) the economic entity’s share of expenses incurred in relation to the joint ventures.
v)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the consolidated entity in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisitionrelated costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:
i) deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with AASB 112 Income Taxes and AASB 119 Employee Benefits respectively;
ii) liabilities or equity instruments related to the replacement by the consolidated entity of an acquiree’s share-based
payment awards are measured in accordance with AASB 2 Share-based Payment; and
iii) assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is
made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another Standard.
Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that
arise from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period
adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with AASB
139, or AASB 137 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or
loss being recognised in profit or loss.
Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or loss,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be
appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.
Business combinations that took place prior to 1 July 2009 were accounted for in accordance with the previous version of
AASB 3.
w)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not
generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cashgenerating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
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Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit (“CGU”) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss immediately unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
x)

Earnings per Share
Basic Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent
entity for the reporting period, after excluding any costs of servicing equity (other than ordinary shares and converting
preference shares treated as ordinary shares for EPS calculation purposes), by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of the Company, adjusted for any bonus issue.
Diluted Earnings per Share

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the basic earnings, adjusted by the after tax effect of financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares and the effect on revenues and expenses of conversion to ordinary shares associated with
dilutive potential shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares adjusted
for any bonus issue.
y)

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Group is exposed to changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and commodity prices from its activities. The
Group may use forward foreign exchange contracts, forward commodity exchange contracts and put and call options to
hedge its foreign exchange rate and commodity risk. Derivative financial instruments are not held for speculative purposes.
The Group currently and throughout the year did not hold any foreign exchange or commodity hedge contracts.
Derivatives are initially recorded at the relevant rate at the date of the transaction. Derivatives outstanding at balance date
are valued at the fair value ruling on that day and any gains or losses are brought to account in the income statement,
unless hedge accounting is applied whereupon the treatment will depend on whether it is classified as a fair value hedge or
cash flow hedge. The Group designates certain derivatives as either hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or
liabilities or firm commitments (fair value hedges) and hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges).
Embedded Derivatives

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their risks
and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in the profit and loss.
Hedge Accounting

The Group designates certain hedging instruments, which include derivatives, embedded derivatives and non-derivatives in
respect of foreign currency risk, as either fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net investments in foreign
operations. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges. At the inception
of the hedge relationship, the entity documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item,
along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the
inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is highly effective in
offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.
Fair Value Hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the profit and
loss immediately, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that is attributable to the
hedged risk.
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Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedge instrument expires or is sold, terminated, exercised, or no longer
qualifies for hedge accounting. The adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item arising from the hedged risk is
amortised to the profit and loss from that date.
Cash Flow Hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are deferred
in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the profit and loss.
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires, or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer
qualifies for hedge accounting. At that time, any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that time remains in equity
and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no
longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on the
hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of foreign currency translation reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the ’other gains and losses’ line item. Gains and losses on the
hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve are
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operation.

2.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian
Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual reporting period.
Details of the impact of the adoption of these new accounting standards are set out in the individual accounting policy notes set
out below. The Group has also adopted the following Standards as listed below. Adoption of these standards has had no impact
on the Group’s Financial Statements:
Amendments to AASB 7‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure’ (adopted in advance of effective date of 1 January 2011)
The amendments (part of AASB 2010-4 ‘Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual
Improvements Project’) clarify the required level of disclosures about credit risk and collateral held and provide relief from
disclosures previously required regarding renegotiated loans.
Amendments to AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (adopted in advance of effective date of 1 January 2011)
The amendments (part of AASB 2010-4 ‘Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual
Improvements Project’) clarify that an entity may choose to present the required analysis of items of other comprehensive income
either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements.
Amendments to AASB 107 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’
The amendments (part of AASB 2009-5 ‘Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual
Improvements Project’) specify that only expenditures that result in a recognised asset in the statement of financial position can
be classified as investing activities in the statement of cash flows.
Standards and Interpretations issued not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of the financial report, a number of Standards and Interpretations were on issue but not yet effective.
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Management is currently evaluating the impact that the initial application of the following Standards and Interpretations will have
on the financial report of the consolidated entity:
Effective for annual
reporting periods
beginning on or after

Expected to be initially
applied in the financial
year ending

AASB 124 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ (revised December 2009), AASB
2009-12 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’

1 January 2011

30 June 2012

AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, AASB 2009-11 ‘Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9’ and AASB 2010-7
‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9
(December 2010)’

1 January 2013

30 June 2014

AASB 2010-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’

1 January 2011

30 June 2012

AASB 2010-8 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred
Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets’

1 January 2012

30 June 2013

AASB 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’, AASB 11 ‘Joint
Arrangements’, AASB 12 ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’, AASB
127 ‘Separate Financial Statements’ (2011), AASB 128 ‘Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures’ (2011), and AASB 2011-7 ‘Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint
Arrangements Standards’, AASB 13 ‘Fair Value Measurements’, AASB 119
‘Employee Benefits’ (2011) and AASB 2011-9 ‘Amendments to
Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income’

1 January 2013

30 June 2014

Standard/Interpretations

3.

REVENUE
2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

96,010
6,441

75,224
-

102,451

75,224

1,018
443
4,207
1,072
715
108

980
4,427
25
522
197
45

7,563

6,196

Revenue
Gold sales
Silver sales
Other income
Iron ore license fee
Interest received
Gain on sale of investment securities(i)
Other
Gain on sale of subsidiary(ii)
Net foreign currency exchange gains
Sundry income

(i)

During the year ended 30 June 2011, the Company sold its total investment holding in Volta Resources Inc. (TSX: VTR). Proceeds received for the shares sold totalled
$4,503,000 generating an accounting profit for the year of $4,207,000.
During the year ended 30 June 2010, the Company sold its total investment holding in Alchemy Resources Limited (ASX: ALY). Proceeds received for the shares sold
totalled $4,735,000, generating an accounting profit for the year of $4,427,000.

(ii) During the year ended 30 June 2011, following the satisfaction of certain conditions precedent the Company received 5,000,000 ordinary shares in Meritus Minerals
Ltd (TSX listed), with a further 2,000,000 due in two instalments over the next 13 months. These shares had a market value of $1,071,000 on satisfaction of the
conditions precedent and were issued in relation to the sale of Troy Mongolia ALT Resources LLC completed January 2010.
During the year ended 30 June 2010, the Company received $522,000 in cash payments in relation to the sale of Troy Mongolia ALT Resources LLC in January 2010.
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4.

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR BEFORE INCOME TAX INCLUDES THE FOLLOWING LOSSES AND EXPENSES:
2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

Exploration expenses

5,390

6,993

Finance costs

3,325

54

Depreciation plant and equipment
- Cost of sales
- Administration expenses

8,258
267

7,194
713

8,525

7,907

16,389

7,085

2,204

1,587

340

-

2,594
1,206
473
938
298
267
2,677

2,124
557
520
1,948
446
161
713
669
3,145

8,453

10,283

61
525
-

560
37

586

597

Amortisation of mining properties
Government royalties
Care and maintenance costs – Sandstone
Administration expenses
Head office salaries and bonuses
Expatriate salaries and bonuses
Directors fees
Regional administration Argentina – development phase
Other Brazil administration
Mongolia administration
Depreciation – furniture and equipment
Extraordinary general meeting settlement
Other Head Office administration(i)

Other expenses – Corporate
Loss on sale of plant and equipment
Share-based payments
Other

(i)

Includes listing fees, shareholder costs, audit fees, taxation consultants, office rents, insurance, travel, conferences and other head office administration
expenditure.
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5.

INCOME TAX

a)

Income Tax recognised in profit or loss:

Current tax expense
Current year – income tax charge/(income)
Adjustment – current income tax of previous years
Deferred income tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Argentina – prior year tax losses recognised
Temporary differences not recognisable

Total income tax expense (benefit) in the income statement
Numerical reconciliation of tax expenses to prima facie tax payable
Profit/(Loss) before tax – continuing operations
Profit/(Loss) before tax – discontinued operations
At the Group’s statutory tax rates of Australia: 30%, Brazil: 34% and
Argentina 35%

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

6,260
177
6,437

1,163
(168)
995

(167)
(4,188)
(175)

(2,422)
1,327

(4,530)

(1,095)

1,907

(100)

16,541
16,541

(6,893)
(6,893)

5,498

(2,188)

157
748
31
(1,332)
(1,584)
94
(1,426)
(1,111)
99
177
(202)
2,481
(2,725)
1,258
(256)

168
689
(7)
(157)
(1,328)
1,045
320
199
(168)
1,327
-

Difference in income tax expense due to:
Share-based payments
Non-deductible foreign salaries and exploration
Non-deductible expenses
Deductible intercompany foreign exchange
Disposal of foreign operations
Recoupment capital losses not previously recognised now recouped
Foreign subsidiaries – losses not recognised
Impact of Brazil tax on gross income
Tax payable on intercompany transaction
Interest free loan adjustment
Under/over provision for income tax of previous year
Temporary differences not recognised
Australian tax losses not recognised
Argentina – prior year tax losses recognised
Argentina – export tax paid
Other

1,907

(100)

Deferred income tax related to items charged or credited directly to equity
Mark to market of current investments
Foreign exchange translation reserve movements
Other

(75)
(1,067)

(284)
240
44

Income tax expense reported in equity

(1,142)

Income tax expense (benefit) on pre-tax net profit

b)

-

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) arise from the following:

2011
Consumable inventories
Capitalised mining costs – Australia
Capitalised mining costs – Brazil
Plant and equipment
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Opening
Balance
(53)
20
(4,762)
632

Charged to
Income
16
(6)
326
(31)

Charged to
Equity
1,067
-

Closing
Balance
(37)
14
(3,369)
601
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b)

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) arise from the following:

2011
Consumable inventories
Capitalised mining costs – Australia
Capitalised mining costs – Brazil
Plant and equipment
Deferred consideration
Provisions for employee entitlements and rehabilitation
Foreign currency on intercompany loans – Australia
Foreign currency on intercompany loans – Brazil
Australia tax losses
Argentina tax losses
Other (net) – Australia
Other (net) – Brazil
Temporary differences not recognised

Opening
Balance

Charged to
Income

Charged to
Equity

Closing
Balance

(53)
20
(4,762)
632
(92)
934
(240)
280
126
(777)
(1,327)

16
(6)
326
(31)
328
(219)
240
2,481
4,188
(139)
(2,670)

1,067
75
-

(37)
14
(3,369)
601
236
715
75
2,481
4,468
(13)
(777)
(3,997)

(5,259)

4,514

1,142

397
4,468
(4,071)

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

397

2010
Consumable inventories
Capitalised mining costs
Additional exploration deductible
Mark to market of investments
Plant and equipment
Inventory
Deferred consideration
Provisions for employee entitlements and rehabilitation
Foreign currency on intercompany loans
Other (net)
Temporary differences not recognised

Opening
Balance

Charged to
Income

(115)
(5,745)
(284)
307
(1,244)
(62)
1,195
(391)
-

62
1,003
280
325
1,244
(30)
(261)
(216)
(1,327)

(6,339)

1,080

Charged to
Equity
284
(240)
(44)
-

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

Closing
Balance
(53)
(4,742)
280
632
(92)
934
(240)
(651)
(1,327)
(5,259)
280
(5,539)
(5,259)

c)

Tax Balances
2011
($’000)
Current tax assets

2010
($’000)

-

42

Deferred tax assets

4,468

280

Current tax payables

2,317

549

Deferred tax liabilities

4,071

5,539
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d)

Unrecognised Deferred Tax Assets
2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

2,481

2,725
-

The following deferred tax assets have not been brought to account as assets:
Tax losses – Argentina
Tax losses – Australia
Tax consolidation
Relevance of tax consolidation to the Group

Troy Resources NL and its only wholly-owned Australian resident subsidiaries have formed a tax-consolidated group with
effect from 1 July 2003 and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The head entity within the tax
consolidated group is Troy Resources NL. Members of the group have not entered into a tax sharing arrangement in order to
allocate income tax expense to the wholly owned subsidiaries on a pro-rata basis. In the absence of such an agreement, the
subsidiaries are jointly and severally liable for the income tax liabilities of the head entity should the head entity default on
its payment obligations. At balance date the likelihood of default is remote.
Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax sharing agreements

Entities within the tax consolidated group have not entered into a tax funding arrangement.

6.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank
Cash at bank – overseas
Interest-bearing deposits at call – Australia

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

3,797
16,301
7,843

4,856
4,454
7,122

27,941

16,432

Investments in short-term money market instruments are bearing interest at rates of 4.70% to 5.88% per annum (2010: 4.45%
to 4.50% per annum).

7.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

1,505
5,819

8,681
-

7,324

8,681

Current
Debtors and prepayments(a)(b)
Value added tax recoverable(c)

(a) Trade debtors include accounts receivable in relation to bullion sales. Other receivables and prepayments primarily include advance payments to contractors and
insurers and recovery of fuel and accommodation expenses incurred on the behalf of contractors. Where the collections of the receivables are doubtful an
allowance for doubtful debts is recognised, with no allowance being recognised at either 30 June 2011 or 2010. Trade receivables operate on standard 30 to 45
day terms. No interest is charged for the first 45 days from the date of the invoice.
(b) As at 30 June 2011 and 2010 no receivables are past due, or impaired.
(c) Within Argentina, the group has incurred value added tax as part of its purchases which are recoverable over time in proportion to the level of future export sales.

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

6,461

5,397

Non-Current
Value added tax recoverable(a)

(a) Within Argentina, the group has incurred value added tax as part of its purchases which are recoverable over time in proportion to the level of future export sales.
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8.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

Non-Current
Shares in listed corporations at fair value

406

2,741

The fair value of listed shares has been based on the closing share price at the end of the financial year. At the end of the current
year all listed shares are designated as available for sale. Refer Note 31 for further information.
The Group holds 7.8% of Meritus Minerals Ltd (2010: nil) a Canadian listed company involved in mineral exploration primarily in
Mongolia. Post year end during July 2011, Meritus conducted a private share placement diluting the Group’s holding to 6.6%.
During the year ended 30 June 2011, the Group sold its total investment holding in Volta Resources Inc. 30 June 2011 $Nil
(2010: $2,741,000).

9.

INVENTORIES (CURRENT)

At cost:
Bullion on hand
Ore stockpiles and work in progress
Stores and raw materials

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

181
6,878
6,970

413
5,808
4,471

14,029

10,692
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land & Buildings
at cost
($’000)

Plant & Equipment
at cost
($’000)

Gross carrying amount:
Balance at 1 July 2009
Additions
Disposals
Net foreign currency exchange differences

1,680
173
(25)

40,158
30,049
(703)
1,160

3,982
870
(840)
44

45,820
31,092
(1,543)
1,179

Balance at 30 June 2010

1,828

70,664

4,056

76,548

Additions
Disposals
Net foreign currency exchange differences
Balance at 30 June 2011

12
(126)
1,714

25,920
(1,786)
(14,954)

Motor Vehicles
at cost
($’000)

445
(972)
(311)

Total
($’000)

26,377
(2,758)
(15,391)

79,844

3,218

84,776

Accumulated depreciation and impairment:
Balance at 1 July 2009
Depreciation expense
Disposals
Net foreign currency exchange differences

(3)
1

(17,227)
(7,104)
894
519

(1,524)
(800)
512
(19)

(18,751)
(7,907)
1,406
501

Balance at 30 June 2010

(2)

(22,918)

(1,831)

(24,751)

Depreciation expense
Disposals
Net foreign currency exchange differences

(1)
1

(7,947)
1,544
(650)

(577)
576
99

(8,525)
2,120
(550)

Balance at 30 June 2011

(2)

(29,971)

(1,733)

(31,706)

47,746
49,873

2,225
1,485

51,797
53,070

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

Net book value:
As at 30 June 2010
As at 30 June 2011

1,826
1,712

Aggregate depreciation allocated, whether recognised as an expense or capitalised as
part of the carrying amount of other assets during the year:
1

Buildings
Plant and equipment
Motor vehicles

7,947
577

3
7,104
800

Balance

8,525

7,907
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11. MINE AND DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

Mine properties
Balance at start of financial year
Expenditure incurred during the year
Transfers in from development
Provision for rehabilitation
Impairment write-down
Amortisation expensed during year
Net foreign currency exchange differences
Balance at end of financial year
Development properties
Balance at start of financial year
Transferred to mine properties
Expenditure incurred during the year
Net foreign currency exchange differences
Balance at end of financial year

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

25,446
16,307
29,251
1,839
(16,389)
(12,323)

24,245
7,926
(7,085)
360

44,131

25,446

29,251
(29,251)
-

30,302
5,672
(6,723)

-

29,251

Mine properties
Development properties

44,131
-

25,446
29,151

Total Mine and Development properties

44,131

54,697

8,274
(5,390)
-

6,993
(6,993)
-

12. EXPLORATION PROPERTIES
Exploration properties
Balance at start of financial year
Expenditure incurred during the year
Expensed directly to the profit and loss
Net foreign currency exchange differences
Balance at end of financial year

2,884

-

Many of the Group’s Australian exploration properties are subject to claims under Native Title or may contain sacred sites or sites
of significance to aboriginal people. In the event of the National Native Title Tribunal ratifying any such claim, the Controlled
Entity’s exploration properties or areas within those tenements may be subject to exploration and/or mining restrictions or
compensation. At this time, the Controlled Entity is unable to assess the likely effect, if any, of the claims.

13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Current
Trade payables
Accrued expenses

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

5,241
3,756

5,155
2,010

8,997

7,165

a) The standard credit period on purchases is 30 days from statement. No interest is usually chargeable on the trade payables
for the first 45 to 60 days from the date of invoice. Thereafter, interest is typically charged on the outstanding balance. The
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit time frame.
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14. DEFERRED CONSIDERATION
2011
($’000)
Deferred consideration on acquisition(i)
(i)

189

2010
($’000)
2,334

As part of the acquisition of Troy Resources Argentina Ltd and the Casposo project, US$2.0 million was due to the vendors on the six month anniversary of first
gold poured, A$1.7 million (US$1.8 million) was paid on 19 May 2011. On agreement with the vendors US$0.2 million has been retained until satisfactory
completion of outstanding items from the purchase agreement.

15. PROVISIONS

Current
Employee benefits
Dividends
Rehabilitation
Non-Current
Employee benefits
Rehabilitation

a)

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

2,220
549
1,169

1,901
17
2,082

3,938

4,000

186
2,246

157
521

2,432

678

Provision for rehabilitation
A provision for rehabilitation is recognised in relation to the mining activities for costs such as reclamation, waste site
closure, plant closure and other costs associated with the rehabilitation of a mining site. Estimates of the rehabilitation
obligations are based on anticipated technology and legal requirements and future costs, which have been discounted to
their present value. In determining the rehabilitation provision, the entity has assumed no significant changes will occur in
the relevant Federal and State legislation in relation to rehabilitation of such mines in the future.

b)

Provision for dividend
The provision for dividends represents the aggregate amount of dividends declared, determined or publicly recommended on
or before the reporting date, which remain undistributed as at reporting date, regardless of the extent to which they are
expected to be paid in cash. (Also refer to Note 21.)

Balance at 1 July 2009
Additional provisions recognised
Unwinding of discount
Reductions arising from payments
Net foreign currency exchange differences
Balance at 30 June 2010
Additional provisions recognised
Unwinding of discount
Reductions arising from payments
Net foreign currency exchange differences
Balance at 30 June 2011
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Dividend
($’000)

Current
Rehabilitation
Provision
($’000)

Non-current
Rehabilitation
Provision
($’000)

8
2,995
(2,986)
-

2,810
536
(1,262)
(2)

540
(19)

17
3,520
(2,988)
549

2,082
(192)
(719)
(2)
1,169

521
1,761
79
(115)
2,246
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2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

2,220
186

1,901
157

2,406

2,058

475

333

12,500
16,589

1,308

29,089

1,308

The aggregate employee entitlement liability recognised and included in the
Financial Statements is as follows:
Current
Non-current

Number of employees at the end of the financial year

16. BORROWINGS
Debt facility: Secured – at amortised cost (i) – (vi)
Current
Non-current

i) As at 30 June 2011 the consolidated entity had a $35 million revolving corporate debt facility with Investec Bank (Australia)
Limited. In January 2011 the facility limit was increased from the initial facility of $25 million entered into on 31 March
2010. The facility has a three-year term and the total facility available reduces by 25% instalments on 30 September 2011,
31 March 2012, 30 September 2012 and 31 March 2013.
ii) As at 30 June 2011, $30 million of the facility had been drawn down (30 June 2010: $3 million). Therefore, principal
repayments due in the following 12 months amount to $3.75 million by 30 September 2011 and a further $8.75 million by
31 March 2012.
iii) The Group holds no other external finance facilities.
iv) The weighted average effective interest rate on the facility is 8.92% per annum (2010: 8.92%).
v) Secured by a mortgage over the company’s Sandstone mining licences and security over shares in wholly owned subsidiaries,
Troy Resources Argentina Ltd and Reinarda Minercao Ltda.
vi) The below tables summarised unlisted options issued to Investec Bank (Australia) Limited as part of loan establishment fees
(non-cash).

Month of
Issue
March 2010
July 2010

Balance at
1 July 2010

Number of
options
issued

952,381
-

632,912

952,381

632,912

Movt.

Balance at
30 June 2011

Vested at
Balance Date

Exercise Period

Expiry Date

-

952,381
632,912

952,381
632,912

May 2010 – May 2013
July 2010 – July 2013

7 May 2013
30 July 2013

1,585,293

1,585,293

17. ISSUED CAPITAL

Issued Capital
87,985,323 (2010: 87,474,323) ordinary shares fully paid
Nil (2010: 350,000) ordinary shares partly paid

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

97,596
-

95,917
105

97,596

96,022

Changes to the then Corporations Law abolished the authorised capital and par value concept in relation to share capital from
1 July 1998. Therefore, the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital and issued shares do not have a par value.
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2011
No.
(‘000)

($’000)

2010
No.
(‘000)

($’000)

Fully paid ordinary share capital
87,475

95,917

69,838

69,166

-

-

12,750

25,512

Issue of shares due to exercise of options under
employee share option plan (Note 25)

160

419

21

35

Partly paid shares paid up

350

1,260

4,866

2,690

-

-

-

(1,486)

87,985

97,596

87,475

95,917

Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Issue of fully paid shares in accordance with the
Non-Renounceable entitlements issue

Cost of share issues

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the entitlement to dividends.
2011
No.
(‘000)
Partly paid ordinary share capital
Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Converted to fully paid shares
Balance at the end of the financial year(i)
(i)

350
(350)
-

($’000)

105
(105)

2010
No.
(‘000)

5,216
(4,866)

-

350

($’000)

836
(731)
105

During the year all remaining 350,000 unlisted partly paid shares were converted to ordinary fully paid shares, due to payment of the $3.30 outstanding per share.

Partly paid shares carry full dividend entitlements and proportional voting rights.
Share Options
In accordance with the provisions of the Employee Share Option Plan and Performance Rights Plan, as at 30 June 2011,
employees have 2,914,000 outstanding options (2010: 3,056,000) and 60,000 performance rights (2010: Nil) over ordinary
shares in aggregate. Full details of the plan are contained in Note 25 to the Financial Statements.

18. RESERVES
a)

Option Premium Reserve
2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Share-based payments
Transfer to share capital

3,718
513
(85)

2,361
1,363
6

Balance at the end of the financial year

4,146

3,718

The Option Premium Reserve arises due to the grant of share options and performance shares under the Troy Resources NL
Employee Share Option Plan or Performance Rights Plan and the issue of securities at a premium or discount by the
Company. Amounts are transferred out of the reserve and into issued capital when the options or other securities are issued,
exercised or fully paid up. Further information about share-based payments to employees is made in Note 25 to the
financial statements.
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b)

Available-for-Sale Reserve

Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Sold during period, net of tax
Valuation (gain)/loss recognised, net of tax
Balance at the end of the financial year

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

2,428

791
(663)
2,300

(2,428)
(666)
(666)

2,428

The Available-for-Sale Reserve arises on the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets. When a revalued financial
asset is sold, the portion of the reserve which relates to the financial asset, and is realised, is recognised in profit or loss.
Where a revalued financial asset is impaired, that portion of the reserve which relates to that financial asset is recognised in
the profit and loss. Valuation gains/(losses) are net of applicable income taxes.
c)

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve
2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

(3,739)

Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Translation of foreign operations

(29,523)

1,182
(4,921)

Balance at the end of the financial year

(33,262)

(3,739)

Exchange differences relating to the translation from the functional currencies of the Group’s foreign controlled entities into
Australian dollars are brought to account by entries made directly to the foreign currency translation reserve, as described in
Note 1(n).
2011
($’000)
TOTAL RESERVES

(29,782)

2010
($’000)
2,407

19. RETAINED EARNINGS
2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Net profit/(loss)
Dividend paid/payable

30,975
14,648
(3,520)

40,705
(6,735)
(2,995)

Balance at the end of the financial year

42,103

30,975
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20. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
2011
Cents Per Share
16.7
16.5

Basic earnings/(loss) per share
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share
a)

2010
Cents Per Share
(8.0)
(8.0)

Basic Earnings per Share
The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as
follows:
2011
2010
($’000)
($’000)
Earnings/(Loss)(i)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares(ii)
for the purposes of basic earnings per share
(i)

14,648

(6,735)

2011
No.

2010
No.

87,878,060

84,499,411

Earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share reconciles to net profit in the Income Statement.

(ii) Options are considered to be potential ordinary shares and are therefore excluded from the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation of basic earnings per share. Where dilutive, potential ordinary shares are included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. (Refer to
Note 20(b).)

b)

Diluted Earnings/(Loss) per Share
The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share are as
follows:
2011
2010
($’000)
($’000)
Earnings/(Loss)(i)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares(ii)
and potential ordinary shares
(i)

14,648

(6,735)

2011
No.

2010
No.

89,006,758

84,499,411

Earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share reconciles to the net profit in the Income Statement.

(ii) Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share reconciles to the weighted
average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share as follows.

2011
No.

2010
No.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation of basic EPS

87,878,060

84,499,411

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and
potential ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted EPS(iii)

89,006,758

84,499,411

2,092,422
43,292
1,516,881

3,056,000
952,381

The following potential ordinary shares are dilutive and are therefore
excluded from the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
the calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share:
Employee options
Performance rights
Investec Bank options

(iii) Weighted average number of converted, lapsed, or cancelled potential ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share: Nil (2010: Nil).
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21. DIVIDENDS AND FRANKING CREDITS
2011
Cents per
Share
Interim dividend – full franked at 30% tax rate
paid June 2011 (previous year September 2009)

4.0

2010
Total
($’000)
3,520

Adjusted franking account balance at 30% tax rate

Total
($’000)

Cents per
Share
4.0

2,995

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

7,760

9,154

22. DIRECTOR AND OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
a)

b)

The following persons were Directors of Troy Resources NL during the financial year:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

D Dix (Non-Executive Director) (appointed Chairman 25 November 2010)
P Benson (Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer)
KK Nilsson (Executive Director – Project Development, currently residing in Argentina)
GR Chambers (Non-Executive Director)
FS Grimwade (Non-Executive Director) (elected 25 November 2010)
JLC Jones (Non-Executive Director)
R Parish (Non-Executive Director)
JAS Dow (Non-Executive Director) (retired)(i)

(i)

Mr Dow concluded his tenure as Chairman on 25 November 2010 and retired from the board as a Non-Executive Director on 5 March 2011.

The following persons were also Key Management Personnel of Troy Resources NL during the financial year:
•
•
•
•
•

c)

PJ Doyle (Vice President – Exploration and Business Development)
DR Sadgrove (Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer)
KD Ross (Operations Manager – Australia)
DW Otterman (Chief Geologist)
GK Brennan (Registered Mine Manager – Australia to 22 October 2010)

Key Management Personnel Compensation
The aggregate compensation of Directors and Other Senior Managers in the Group and the Company is set out below:

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Share-based payments

Directors and other Senior Managers

2011
($)

2010
($)

2,581,724
472,825
227,582

2,917,337
434,515
231,261

3,282,131

3,583,114

2011
Average (No.)

2010
Average (No.)

13

13
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d)

Equity Instruments Disclosure Relating to Key Management Personnel
i) Options and Performance rights provided as remuneration and shares issued on implementation of those shares options
or rights, together with the terms and conditions of the options and performance rights, can be found in Note 24
(Related Party Transactions) and 25 (Employee Option Plan and Performance Rights Plan).
ii) Options and Shares held in the company by Key Management Personnel during the financial year are set out in Note 24
(Related Party Transactions).

e)

Loans to Key Management Personnel
There were no loans to Key Management Personnel during the current or prior financial year.

f)

Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel
There were no other transactions entered into during the current financial year with Key Management Personnel other than
those set out in Note 24 (Related Party Transactions).
The Company has no contingent liability for termination benefits under service agreements with Key Management Personnel
of the Company, at balance date.

23. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

a)

b)

Paid or payable to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in Australia
Audit of the financial reports
Financial Model review
Paid or payable to overseas associates of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Audit of the financial reports

2011
($)

2010
($)

139,641
18,968

128,921
-

158,609

128,921

114,999

73,224

114,999

73,224

273,608

202,145

No other benefits were received by the Auditor.

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
a)

Subsidiaries
The ultimate parent entity of the group is Troy Resources NL.
Details of the ownership of ordinary shares held in subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 27 to the Financial Statements.

b)

Key Management Personnel
As required by the Corporations Act 2001, the Company has disclosed information about the compensation of Directors,
Executives and Other Key Management Personnel (“Compensation Disclosures”) under the heading “Remuneration Report”
on pages 39 to 45 of the Directors’ Report.
The value of share-based payments in the remuneration tables has been calculated by an independent financial services
provider using a Binomial Valuation Model for share options and Monte Carlo Valuation Model for performance rights.
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Aggregate numbers of fully paid and partly paid shares and share options/performance rights of Troy Resources NL held
directly, indirectly or beneficially by Key Management Personnel or their related parties at balance date is:
YEAR 2011 – Fully paid ordinary shares issued by Troy Resources NL

2011

Balance at
1 July 2010

Granted as
Remuneration

Received on
Exercise of Options

Net Other
Change

Balance at
30 June 2011

Directors
DR Dix(1)
P Benson(2)
KK Nilsson
GR Chambers
FS Grimwade(3)
JLC Jones
R Parish
JAS Dow(4)

74,993
96,500
85,239
23,332
10,616,529
5,012,620
48,534

-

-

12,020
30,000
20,000
27,851
(88,333)
(48,534)

87,013
126,500
85,239
23,332
20,000
10,644,380
4,924,287
-

87,013
26,500
9,405,319
4,771,036
-

3,000
15,960,747

-

-

500
(36,496)

3,500
15,924,251

3,500
14,303,368

Other Key Management
Personnel
PJ Doyle
Other
TOTAL
(1)
(2)

(3)

Appointed Chairman on 25 November 2010.
Appointed as Managing Director on 13 September 2010.

(4)

Balance Held
Nominally

Appointed Non-Executive Director on 25 November 2010.
Retired as a Director on 5 March 2011.

YEAR 2010 – Fully paid ordinary shares issued by Troy Resources NL

2010
Directors
JAS Dow
P Benson(1)
KK Nilsson
GR Chambers
DE Clarke(2)
JLC Jones
PAK Naylor(3)
DR Dix (4)
R Parish (5)
Other Key Management
Personnel
PJ Doyle
Other
TOTAL
(1)
(2)
(3)

Balance at
1 July 2009

Granted as
Remuneration

Received on
Exercise of Options

Net Other
Change

Balance at 30
June 2010

41,600
75,000
73,062
10,000
322,400
8,629,312
334,152
-

-

-

6,934
21,500
12,177
13,332
(322,400)
1,987,217
(334,152)
74,993
5,012,620

48,534
96,500
85,239
23,332
10,616,529
74,993
5,012,620

24,267
26,500
9,377,468
4,851,036

3,000
9,488,526

-

-

6,472,221

3,000
15,960,747

14,279,271

(4)

Resigned on 27 November 2009 continues as Chief Executive Officer.
Resigned on 27 November 2009.
Resigned on 27 November 2009.

(5)

Balance Held
Nominally

Appointed Non-Executive Director on 28 January 2010.
Appointed Non-Executive Director on 27 November 2009.

YEAR 2010 – Partly paid ordinary shares on issue by Troy Resources NL

2010
Directors
JLC Jones
PAK Naylor
Other Directors and
Key Management
Personnel
TOTAL

Granted as
Remuneration

Received on
Exercise of Options

Net Other
Change

Balance at
30 June
2010

Balance Held
Nominally

1,892,825
31,692

-

-

(1,892,825)
(31,692)

-

-

1,924,517

-

-

(1,924,517)

-

-

Balance at
1 July 2009

No partly paid shares were held by Directors or Senior Management during the year ended 30 June 2011.
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YEAR 2011 – Executive Share Options issued by Troy Resources NL

2011
Directors
P Benson
KK Nilsson
Other
Directors
Other Key
Management
Personnel
PJ Doyle
DR Sadgrove
KD Ross
DW Otterman
GK Brennan
TOTAL

Balance at
1 July 2010

Granted as
Remuneration

Exercised

Exercised
Price

1,000,000
300,000

-

-

-

-

200,000
200,000
50,000
130,000
1,880,000

-

Vested
but not
Exercisable

Options
Vested
during
Year

Other
Change

Balance at
30 June
2011

Balance
Vested at 30
June 2011

-

-

1,000,000
300,000

750,000
200,000

-

750,000
200,000

250,000
100,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

200,000
200,000
50,000
130,000
1,880,000

150,500
150,500
50,000
103,500
1,404,500

-

150,500
150,500
50,000
103,500
1,404,500

66,000
66,000
43,000
525,000

Vested and
Exercisable

There were Nil (2010: Nil) employee share options issued to Directors or other Key Management Personnel during the year, under
the Troy Resources NL Employee Share Option Plan.
Each share option converts into one ordinary share in Troy Resources NL on exercise. No amounts are paid or payable by the
recipient on the grant or vesting of the option. During the year, Nil (2010: Nil) options were exercised by Key Management
Personnel. Further details of the Troy Resources NL Employee Share Option Scheme are contained in Note 25 and details of the
remuneration of Key Management Personnel are contained in the Remuneration Report within the Directors’ Report.
YEAR 2010 – Executive Share Options issued by Troy Resources NL

2010
Directors
P Benson(1)
JAS Dow
KK Nilsson
Other
Directors
Other Key
Management
Personnel
PJ Doyle
DR Sadgrove
KD Ross
DW Otterman
GK Brennan
TOTAL
1

Balance at
1 July 2009

Granted as
Remuneration

Exercised

Exercised
Price

1,000,000
40,000
300,000

-

-

-

-

500,000
200,000
125,000
130,000
2,295,000

-

Vested
but not
Exercisable

Vested and
Exercisable

Options
Vested
during
Year

500,000
100,000

-

500,000
100,000

250,000
100,000

-

-

-

-

-

200,000
200,000
50,000
130,000
1,880,000

84,500
84,500
33,500
60,500
86,300

-

84,500
84,500
33,500
60,500
812,000

67,500
67,500
16,500
43,500
494,000

Other
Change

Balance at
30 June
2010

Balance
Vested at 30
June 2010

-

(40,000)
-

1,000,000
300,000

-

-

-

-

-

(300,000)
(75,000)
(415,000)

Resigned as a Director on 27 November 2009, continues as Chief Executive Officer, reappointed as Director on 13 September 2010.
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YEAR 2011 – Executive Performance Rights issued by Troy Resources NL

Balance at 1 Granted as
July 2010 Remuneration

2011
Directors
P Benson
Other
Directors
Other Key
Management
Personnel
PJ Doyle
DR Sadgrove
DW Otterman
TOTAL

Issued

Hurdle Price
Range
$

Other
Change

Balance at
30 June
2011

Balance
Vested at 30
June 2011

Vested
but not
Issued

Vested
during
Year

-

20,000

-

3.00

-

20,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

15,000
15,000
10,000
60,000

-

3.00 – 5.00
3.00 – 5.00
3.00 – 5.00
-

-

15,000
15,000
10,000
60,000

-

-

-

Each performance right entitles the holder to subscribe for one fully paid ordinary share in the Company at an exercise price
of $nil. These Performance Rights vest and are immediately exercised into ordinary shares once the following performance
conditions are met:
i) Continuous employment through to vesting determination date.
ii) The share price having been on or above the hurdle price for a continuous 10 day period.
c)

Other Related Party Transactions
i)

Mr JLC Jones

Mr JLC Jones, Non-Executive Director, is a director of and is related to a number of entities, where he has significant
influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities, which entered into various commercial transactions
with the Company.
The terms and conditions of these transactions with those related parties were no more favourable than those available,
and which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-related parties on an arm’s
length basis.
The aggregate amounts recognised during the year relating to those related parties were as follows:
2011
($)
Office rental and associated costs
Material handling contracts at mine site
(Sale) of diesel fuel for mine site contracts
S249D EGM settlement(1)
Other miscellaneous services
(1)

81,828
(3,626)
37,773

2010
($)
93,671
13,905,046
(533,368)
295,152
-

Reimbursement of expenses as part of the settlement of the s249D (Corporations Act 2001) Notice served on the Company by Warrigal Pty Ltd, which
resulted in the subsequent cancellation of the EGM so called.

ii) Lawson Lundell LLP

Mr GR Chambers is a partner in Lawson Lundell LLP, a limited liability partnership formed under the laws of Canada,
which provides corporate legal services to local and international clients. Lawson Lundell provide legal services to the
company at normal commercial rates for the amounts as follows:

Transaction description: Legal fees(1)
(1)

2011
($)

2010
($)

95,359

186,273

Includes fees for the provision of general and commercial legal services and advice as well as in the performance of duties as a non-executive director
and reimbursement of expenses including travel to Australia, Argentina and Brazil incurred in such capacity.
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iii) Mr JAS Dow

Mr John Dow is a mining consultant.

Consultant fee(1)
(1)

2011
($)

2010
($)

-

55,200

Includes fees for EGM settlement consultancy only.

25. EMPLOYEE SHARE EQUITY PLANS
Employee Share Option Plan
In November 2007 the Company adopted a new Employee Share Option Plan (“Plan”) which was approved at the Annual General
Meeting on 25 November 2010.
Options under the Plan are issued with the following terms and conditions:
a) to employees or Directors of the Company or any Associated Body Corporate;
b) the number of options outstanding and shares issued under the Plan in the last five years cannot exceed 7% of issued shares;
c) issue cost is nil;
d) each grant of options is split into three approximately equal portions. The first third vest on the first anniversary of the grant date,
the second third on the second anniversary of the grant date and the final third on the third anniversary of the grant date. All
options expire on the fourth anniversary of the grant date;
e) options carry no voting rights, and no rights to dividends;
f) options may be exercised at any time from the date on which they vest to the expiry date; and
g) options expire when the option holder ceases to be employed by the Company unless the Directors, in their sole discretion due to
extenuating circumstances, determine otherwise; and options are issued at the discretion of the Directors who take into account
the length of service of the recipient.
Under the Plan, the exercise price of an Option based on the Value Weighted Average Price of the shares as traded on the stock
exchange where the majority of the Company’s shares are traded over the five trading days prior to the date of grant of the Options.
During the year ended 30 June 2011, 130,000 (2010: 561,000) options were issued under the new Plan and 111,000 options
lapsed during the year.
Consideration received on the exercise of the employee options is recognised in contributed equity. During the financial year
$333,693 (2010: $28,610) was recognised in contributed equity arising from the exercise of employee options.
Employee Performance Rights Plan
The Company has an Employee Performance Rights Plan (“Plan”) which was approved at the Annual General Meeting on 25
November 2010.
Performance Rights under the Plan are issued fully paid for nil consideration with the following common terms and conditions:
a) to employees or Directors of the Company or any Associated Body Corporate;
b) the number of shares issued under the Plan in the last five years cannot exceed 5% of issued shares;
c) issue cost is nil;
d) Performance shares may only be exercised by the participant at the times, to the extent and in the manner set out in the offer
pertaining to those Performance Rights;
e) each grant of Performance Rights is split into portions with allocated hurdle criteria. All Performance expire on the fourth
anniversary of the grant date; and
(f) Performance Rights will expire when the holder ceases to be employed by the Company unless the Directors, in their sole
discretion due to extenuating circumstances, determine otherwise; and Performance Rights are issued at the discretion of the
Directors who take into account the length of service of the recipient.
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Employee Options 2011

Month of
issue

Balance at
1 July 2010

Oct
2010

No. of
options
exercised

Exercise
date

Ex. price

Proceeds
received
($)

Balance at
30 June
2011

Vested at
30 June
2011

Exercise
period

Expiry
date

50,000

-

-

$3.36

-

-

-

50,000

-

Oct 11 –
Oct 14

28 Oct
14

80,000

-

-

$2.60

-

-

-

80,000

-

Aug 11 –
Aug 14

5 Aug
14

411,000

-

-

-

$2.14

-

-

411,000

137,000

150,000

-

-

-

$1.79

-

-

150,000

50,000

300,000

-

(17,000)

Feb 11

$1.42

23,071

60,350

250,000

167,500

300,000

-

-

-

$1.31

-

-

300,000

200,000

$1.31

49,884

145,000

(35,000)

238,000

158,000

$2.57

260,738

378,290

(43,000)

435,000

435,000

-

-

1,000,000

750,000

Mar 11 –
Mar 13
Aug 10 –
Aug 12
Jun 10 –
Jun 13
Nov 08 –
Oct 11
Oct 08 –
Oct 11
Apr 08 –
Apr 11
Nov 07 –
Oct 11

19 Mar
14
17 Aug
13
17 Jun
13
7 Oct
12
7 Oct
12
23 Apr
12
3 Oct
12

333,693

583,640

2,914,000

1,847,500

-

-

-

Aug
2010
Mar
2010
Aug
2009
Jun
2009
Nov
2008
Oct
2008
Apr
2008
Nov
2007

No.
options
issued

Number
lapsed/
cancelled
during the
year

Fair value
on date of
exercise
($)

Feb-Mar
- (40,000)
11
Dec 10 to
- (104,000)
May 11

313,000
582,000
1,000,000

-

-

-

$2.98

3,056,000

130,000

(161,000)

-

-

(33,000)

(111,000)

The weighted average share price on date of exercise during the period was $2.14.
Employee Options 2010

Month
of
issue
Mar
2010
Aug
2009
June
2009
Nov
2008
Oct
2008
Apr
2008
Nov
2007
Feb
2006
Jul
2005

Balance at
1 July 2010

No.
options
issued

No. of
options
exercised

Exercise
date

Ex. price

Number
lapsed/
cancelled
during the
year

Fair value
on date of
exercise
($)

Proceeds
received
($)

Balance at
30 June
2011

Vested at
30 June
2011

-

411,000

-

-

$2.14

-

-

-

411,000

-

-

150,000

-

-

$1.79

-

-

-

150,000

-

330,000

-

May 10

$1.42

14,200

25,600

(20,000)

300,000

102,000

300,000

-

(10,000)
(11,000)

-

$1.31

-

-

-

300,000

100,000

Jul-Nov
09

$1.31

14,410

19,210

(6,000)

313,000

104,000

(25,000)

582,000

365,000

- 1,000,000

500,000

330,000

-

607,000

-

-

-

$2.57

-

-

1,000,000

-

-

-

$2.98

-

-

195,000

-

-

-

$2.42

-

-

(195,000)

-

-

300,000

-

-

-

$1.86

-

-

(300,000)

-

-

3,062,000

561,000

-

-

28,610

44,810

(546,000)

3,056,000

1,171,000

(21,000)

Exercise
period

Expiry
date

Mar 11 to
Mar 13
Aug 10 to
Aug 12
Jun 10 to
Jun 13
Nov 08 to
Oct 11
Oct 08 to
Oct 11
Apr 08 to
Apr 11
Nov 07 to
Oct 11
Feb 07 to
Feb 10
Jul 06 to
Jul 09

19 Mar
14
17 Aug
13
17 Jun
13

-

7 Oct 12
7 Oct 12
23 Apr
12
3 Oct 12
17 Feb
10
18 Jul
09
-

The weighted average share price on date of exercise during the period was $2.13.
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Employee Performance Rights 2011

Month of
issue
Sep
2010

Balance at
1 July
2010

No.
rights
issued

Hurdle price
range

No. of
rights
vested

Vest
date

Fair value
on date of
issue
($)

Number lapsed/
cancelled
during the year

Balance at
30 June
2011

Vested
at 30
June
2011

Vestment
period

Expiry
date

-

70,000

$3.00 - $5.00

-

-

-

(10,000)

60,000

-

Sep 11 –
Sep 14

9 Sep 14

-

70,000

$3.00 - $5.00

-

-

-

(10,000)

60,000

-

-

-

No employee performance rights were on issue during the 2010 financial year.
Inputs used in the valuation model for share-based payment arrangements which were entered into during the year
Share-based payments have been valued by an independent financial services provider. Share options have been valued using a
Binomial Valuation Model. Performance rights have been valued using a Monte-Carlo valuation model. The following input
parameters have been used in determining the value of share-based payments:
Grant date

Expiry
date

Number of
securities

Vesting
date

Expected
exercise date(1)

Current share
price(2) ($)

Exercise
price ($)

Dividend
yield(3)

Risk-free
rate(4)

Volatility

3 Oct 08
3 Oct 09
3 Oct 10
3 Oct 11
23 Apr 09
23 Apr 10
23 Apr 11
7 Oct 09
7 Oct 10
7 Oct 11
7 Oct 09
7 Oct 10
7 Oct 11
17 Jun 10
17 Jun 11
17 Jun 12
17 Aug 09
17 Aug 10
17 Aug 11
19 Mar 11
19 Mar 12
19 Mar 13
5 Aug 11
5 Aug 12
5 Aug 13
28 Oct 11
28 Oct 12
28 Oct 13

3 Oct 11
3 Jan 12
3 Apr 12
3 July 12
23 Oct 10
23 Apr 11
23 Oct 11
7 Apr 11
7 Oct 11
7 Apr 12
7 Apr 11
7 Oct 11
7 Apr 12
17 Dec 11
17 Jun 12
17 Dec 12
16 Feb 12
16 Aug 12
15 Feb 12
17 Sep 12
19 Mar 13
17 Sep 13
3 Feb 13
5 Aug 13
3 Feb 14
28 Apr 13
28 Oct 13
28 Apr 14

3.24
3.24
3.24
3.24
2.55
2.55
2.55
1.07
1.07
1.07
1.07
1.07
1.07
1.34
1.34
1.34
1.82
1.82
1.82
2.25
2.25
2.25
2.69
2.69
2.69
3.34
3.34
3.34

2.98
2.98
2.98
2.98
2.57
2.57
2.57
1.31
1.31
1.31
1.31
1.31
1.31
1.42
1.42
1.42
1.79
1.79
1.79
2.14
2.14
2.14
2.60
2.60
2.60
3.36
3.36
3.36

2.23%
2.23%
2.23%
2.23%
2.90%
2.90%
2.90%
2.77%
2.77%
2.77%
2.77%
2.77%
2.77%
3.14%
3.14%
3.14%
2.11%
2.11%
2.11%
1.76%
1.76%
1.76%
1.48%
1.48%
1.48%
1.19%
1.19%
1.19%

6.36%
6.34%
6.32%
6.30%
6.61%
6.55%
6.53%
4.44%
4.54%
4.62%
4.44%
4.54%
4.62%
4.11%
4.55%
4.73%
4.66%
4.86%
4.99%
5.08%
5.21%
5.30%
4.49%
4.50%
4.56%
4.79%
4.83%
4.83%

40%
39%
39%
38%
38%
37%
38%
44%
42%
41%
44%
42%
41%
55%
51%
49%
56%
53%
50%
58%
56%
53%
58%
55%
54%
56%
55%
54%

1.17
1.18
1.19
1.20
0.64
0.68
0.74
0.22
0.23
0.25
0.22
0.23
0.25
0.41
0.42
0.43
0.59
0.61
0.60
0.78
0.81
0.81
1.01
1.05
1.10
1.20
1.30
1.35

Vesting
date

Expiry
date

Current share
price(2) ($)

Hurdle
price ($)

Dividend
yield(3)

Risk-free
rate(4)

Volatility

“Fair
Value”

9 Sep 11
9 Sep 11
9 Sep 12
9 Sep 12
9 Sep 12

9 Sep 14
9 Sep 14
9 Sep 14
9 Sep 14
9 Sep 14

2.83
2.83
2.83
2.83
2.83

3.00
3.50
4.00
4.50
5.00

2.00%
2.00%
2.00%
2.00%
2.00%

4.6%
4.6%
4.6%
4.6%
4.6%

40%
40%
40%
40%
40%

2.44
2.22
1.89
1.70
1.53

( 5)

“Fair
Value”

Valuation of Share Options
28 Nov 07

3 Oct 12

23 Apr 08

23 Apr 12

7 Oct 08

7 Oct 12

26 Nov 08

7 Oct 12

17 Jun 09

17 Jun 13

17 Aug 09

17 Aug 13

19 Mar 10

19 Mar 14

5 Aug 10

5 Aug 14

28 Oct 10

29 Oct 14

Grant date

Expiry
date

250,000
250,000
250,000
250,000
390,000
367,500
367,500
115,000
107,500
107,500
100,000
100,000
100,000
112,000
109,000
109,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
137,000
137,000
137,000
27,000
26,500
26,500
19,000
15,500
15,500
Number of
securities

(5)

Valuation of Performance Rights
9 Sep 10

9 Sep 14

30,000
10,000
10,000
10,000
10,000

NOTES:
(1)
The expected exercise date is assumed to be the midpoint between the vesting date and the expiry date.
(2)
The current share price is the closing market price on the ASX as of the issue date of the Options, and the closing market price as of the issue date of the partly paid
shares for the Implied Options.
(3)
The dividend yield is the annualised gross percentage yield continuously compounded and sourced from Bloomberg.
(4)
The risk-free rate is the implied yield on zero-coupon Australian government bonds, at the issue date, continuously compounded, corresponding to the expected life of
the Options and the Implied Options.
(5)
The Volatility factor is based on the historical volatility observed for Troy Resources, as per Bloomberg, corresponding to the expected life for the Options and the
Implied Options.
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The following table reconciles the share options outstanding at the beginning and end of the year.

No.

2011
Weighted Average
Exercise Price ($)

Balance at the beginning of the year
Granted during the year
Exercised during the year
Lapsed during the year

3,056,000
130,000
(161,000)
(111,000)

2.24
2.89
2.14
1.83

3,062,000
561,000
(21,000)
(546,000)

2.68
2.05
2.13
2.07

Balance at the end of the year

2,914,000

2.16

3,056,000

2.24

Exercisable at the end of the year

1,847,500

2.34

1,171,000

2.43

2010
Weighted Average
No.
Exercise Price ($)

In addition to the above share options, during the year ended 30 June 2011, 70,000 performance rights were granted. Each
right entitles the holder to subscribe for one fully paid ordinary share in the Company at an exercise price of $nil subject to
satisfying certain criteria. No rights vested during the year, 10,000 lapsed during the year. No performance rights were in
existence during the year ended 30 June 2010.

26. SEGMENT REPORTING
The following is an analysis of the consolidated entity’s revenue and results by reportable operating segment:
Segment Revenue Year Ended
2011
2010
($’000)
($’000)
Producing Operations
Australia
Brazil
Argentina

Segment Profit Year Ended
2011
2010
($’000)
($’000)

8,622
68,378
25,451

36,438
38,786
-

2,840
17,343
6,889

2,752
2,086
-

27,072

4,838

102,451

75,224

Exploration
Australia and other
Brazil
Argentina
Capitalised Argentina

-

-

(733)
(1,467)
(6,074)
2,884

(2,994)
(2,174)
(1,825)
-

Total Exploration

-

-

(5,390)

(6,993)

Development Operations
Argentina

-

-

(938)

(2,025)

Total Development Operations

-

-

(938)

(2,025)

102,451

75,224

Total Operations

Total Segments

20,744

(4,180)

Other income
Administration
Corporate – other expenses
Care and maintenance
Finance costs

7,563
(7,515)
(586)
(340)
(3,325)

6,196
(8,258)
(597)
(54)

Profit/(Loss) before tax

16,541

(6,893)

The revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no intersegment sales during the
period.
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without the allocation of central administration costs and directors’
salaries, interest income, profit on the sale of shares, gains on sale of exploration tenements, expenses in relation to corporate
facilities, and tax expense. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.

83 < TROY RESOURCES NL | ANNUAL REPORT 2011

TROY RESOURCES NL | AR 2011
CONSOLIDATED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 30 June 2011

The following is an analysis of the consolidated entity’s assets and liabilities by reportable segment:
Total Assets

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

Continuing Operations:
Australia
Brazil
Argentina
Exploration

632
35,924
87,412
2,884

3,137
57,753
69,171
-

Total Segment Assets

126,852

130,061

27,951
4,468
406
1,047

16,432
322
2,741
1,203

160,714

150,759

Cash and cash equivalents
Income tax assets
Investments in listed entities
Other assets
Total Assets

Various corporate and head office assets including cash held and income tax balances have not been allocated to the underlying
segments.
2011
2010
Total Liabilities
($’000)
($’000)
Continuing Operations:
Australia
Brazil
Argentina
Exploration

1,077
3,402
7,636
-

4,926
3,882
2,383
-

Total Segment Liabilities

12,115

11,191

Income tax liabilities
Deferred consideration on acquisition
Borrowings
Other liabilities

6,388
189
29,089
3,252

6,088
2,334
1,308
652

51,033

21,573

Total Liabilities

Note 16

Unallocated liabilities include tax liabilities, deferred consideration and consolidated entity borrowings not specifically allocated
to any one underlying segment.
Other segment information:

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

74
22,517
2,056
24,647

2,277
12,170
158

267

387

24,914

14,992
73
8,831
35,578
-

Corporate

11,610
32,332
2,884
46,826
581

Total Additions

47,407

44,482

Other Segment Information
Continuing Operations:
Depreciation and Amortisation
Australia
Brazil
Argentina
Total Segment Liabilities
Corporate
Total Depreciation and Amortisation
Additions to non-current assets
Australia
Brazil
Argentina
Exploration
Total Segment
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27. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
a)

Exploration Commitments
The Group has minimum statutory commitments as conditions of tenure of certain mining tenements. In addition it has
commitments to perform and expend funds towards retaining an interest in formalised agreements with joint venture and
prospective joint venture partners. Whilst these obligations may vary, the following is considered to be a reasonable estimate
of the minimum projected payments required to 30 June 2011 if it is to retain all of its present interests in mining and
exploration properties, within the context of existing joint ventures.

Not longer than 1 year
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years
Longer than 5 years
Includes joint venture commitments within 12 months
Not longer that 1 year
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years
Longer than 5 years
b)

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

692
1,959
-

1,407
2,742
-

-

450
900
-

444

5,362
-

Capital Commitments
Capital expenditure commitments contracted for as at the reporting date:
Not longer than 1 year
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years
Longer than 5 years
Includes: Joint venture commitments

c)

-

Contractual Commitment – Power Line Contribution
The Group has contractual commitments to contribute to the upgrade of and construction of new power lines in San Juan
province Argentina, acquired as part of the Casposo Gold Silver development project purchased. The power line
commitments contracted for as at the reporting date:
2011
2010
($’000)
($’000)
Not longer that 1 year
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years
Longer than 5 years

1,534
3,834
-

6,522
6,639
-

The Group is obliged to spend money on mining areas to ensure sufficient rehabilitation of vegetation to satisfy the
requirements under various government Mining Acts and Regulations. This expenditure is provided for in the Financial
Statements in accordance with accounting policy 1(i) and detailed in Note 15.
The Group has given securities in the form of bank guarantees and sureties with various state government mining
departments to meet commitments for rehabilitation (Refer Note 28).
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28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There are no contingent liabilities other than:
a) Bank Guarantees provided by financial institutions given to various State Departments of Mines and Petroleum and joint
venture partners to a total value of $2,663,125 (2010: $2,663,125). These are security amounts against breach of
environmental conditions and are not expected to be exercised in the normal course of business. General bank guarantees to
financial institutions total $83,000 (2010: $86,000); and
b) General sureties given to various State Departments of Mines and Petroleum to a total value of $175,000 (2010: $175,000).
These are security amounts against breach of environmental conditions and are not expected to be exercised in the normal
course of business.

29. SUBSIDIARIES
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the following subsidiaries:

Country of Incorporation

Ownership Interest
2011
2010
%
%

Parent Entity:
Troy Resources NL

Australia

Subsidiaries:
Wirraminna Gold NL

Australia

100

100

Troy Resources Argentina Ltd

Canada

100

100

Troy Resources Brasil Participações Ltda

Brazil

100

100
70

Brazil

70

Troy Brasil Exploração Mineral Ltda

Brazil

100

100

•
•
•

Brazil
Brazil
Brazil

100
100
100

100
100
100

Troy Resources Holdings BVI

British Virgin Islands

100

100

•

Brazil

100

100

•

Sertão Mineração Ltda
Agreste Mineracao Ltda
Cerado Mineracao Ltda
Nortao Mineracao Ltda
Reinarda Mineracao Ltda

30. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER BALANCE DATE
On 12 August 2011, the Company announced the introduction of a dividend reinvestment plan to apply for future dividends
declared by the Company.
On 15 August 2011 the Company issued 100,000 unlisted options under the Troy Employee Share Option plan at an exercise
price of $4.16. The options vest in three annual tranches and all expire on 12 August 2015.
On 9 September 2011 the Company issued 150,000 unlisted options under the Troy Employee Share Option plan at an exercise
price of $4.68. The options vest in three annual tranches and all expire on 9 September 2015.

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a)

Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from 2011.
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The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (borrowings as detailed in Note 16 and equity of the Group
(comprising issued capital, reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests as detailed in Notes 17, 18 and 19).
The Group’s Board reviews the capital structure of the Group for any new acquisition or significant project. As part of the
review, the Board considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group’s aim is to
minimise the use of debt and only utilise debt for very specific purposes such as capital development projects based on very
strong feasibility analysis. The Group would normally target less than 50% debt on any one project but may choose to
spread that risk across all projects by the use of a group corporate facility. The gearing ratio at 30 June 2011 of 4% (2010:
Nil) (refer below).
i)

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio at end of the reporting period was a follows:
2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

Debt(i)
Cash and bank balances (excluding restricted cash)
Net Debt

29,089
(24,650)
4,519

1,308
(13,699)
-

Equity(ii)

109,681

129,186

4%

0%

Debt to equity ratio

(i) Debt is defined as long- and short-term borrowings (excluding derivatives and financial guarantee contracts).
(ii) Equity includes all issued capital, reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests as detailed in Notes 17, 18 and 19.

Externally imposed capital requirements

As per the Group’s debt facility with Investec Bank (Australia) Pty Limited a minimum available cash balance of
$5,000,000 must be maintained at all times, management monitors cash flows requirements to meet the obligations
and the Group has complied with requirements as at reporting date, refer Note 16.
b)

Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Available-for-sale financial assets
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings – amortised cost
c)

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

29,741
7,324
406

16,432
8,861
2,741

(8,997)
(29,089)

(7,165)
(1,308)

Financial risk management objective
The Group’s Corporate Treasury function provides services to the business, coordinates access to domestic and international
financial markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group though internal risk
reports which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk (including currency risk,
fair value interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk.
The Group seeks to minimise the effects of these risks by using derivative financial instruments to hedge risk exposures.
The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the board of directors, which provide written
principals on foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of financial derivatives and non-derivative financial
instruments, and the investment of excess liquidity. Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed by the
internal auditors on a continuous basis. The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative
financial instruments, for speculative purposes.
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The Corporate Treasury function reports at least quarterly to the Board, which monitors risks and policies implemented to
mitigate risk exposures.
The Group’s executive management and finance department co-ordinate access to domestic and international financial
markets, and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group. The Group does not enter into or trade
financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes. The Group’s activities expose it
primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
d)

Objectives of Derivative Financial Instruments
The Group enters into derivative financial instruments from time to time in the normal course of business in order to hedge
its exposure to fluctuations in the Australian dollar/US dollar gold price, and Australian dollar/US dollar exchange rate. The
Group does not enter into or trade derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

e)

Gold and Foreign Currency Contracts
The Group held nil put option contracts as at 30 June 2011. The Group’s policy is generally not to hedge the price of gold
but when deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors does allow it to hedge a portion of expected gold production to
secure its mining operations.

f)

Market risk
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates (refer Note 31
(g)), interest rates (refer to 31(h)) and commodity risk – gold prices (refer to 31(k)). There has been no change to the
Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk from the previous period.

g)

Foreign currency risk management
The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate
fluctuations arises Exchange rate exposures are managed by ongoing review by management of exchange rate fluctuations
between the Australian dollar, the Brazilian real, Argentinean Peso and the United States dollar and the hedging of
significant foreign currency transactions were considered necessary to mitigate a portion of the risk. The carrying amount of
the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date is as follows:
Assets
2011
(A$’000)
United States dollars

-

Liabilities
2010
(A$’000)
-

2011
(A$’000)
-

2010
(A$’000)
-

The Company and its subsidiaries primarily trade in their functional currencies. Balances above exclude amounts
denominated in the functional currency of each on the companies within the Group. Certain inter-company loans between
entities are denominated in United States dollars and loans outside the Group are denominated in the functional currency of
the parent entity. The Group is mainly exposed to the Brazilian real and Argentinean Peso through its combined mining
operations in Brazil and Argentina, and the United States dollar (USD) through USD denominated purchases of equipment
along with sales of gold also by its Brazilian operations and Argentinean operations development.
Sensitivity analysis – exchange rates

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in the Australian dollar against the relevant
foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the period end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to
foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the currency of the
lender or the borrower. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit and other equity where the Australian dollar
strengthens 5% against the relevant currency. For a 5% weakening of the Australian dollar against the relevant currency,
there would be a comparable impact on the profit and other equity, and the balances below would be negative.
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Judgements of reasonably possible movements

2011
(A$’000)

2010
(A$’000)

AUD/USD +/- 5%
Pre-tax profit higher/(lower)
Total equity higher/(lower)

5,123
3,853

3,666
3,244

AUD/BRL +/- 5%
Post-tax profit higher/(lower)
Total equity higher/(lower)

649
1,847

(4)
2,160

AUD/PESO +/- 5%
Post-tax profit higher/(lower)
Total equity higher/(lower)

(22)
(1,366)

(148)
(200)

The movements in profit and equity in 2011 are more sensitive than in 2010 due to the effect of increased US$ loans
provided to Brazil in 2010 to fund the purchase of assets denominated in Brazilian real. In addition, during 2011 significant
funding has been allocated to Argentina to develop operations where assets are denominated in Argentinean Pesos.
h)

Interest rate risk management
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group place funds on deposit at variable rates. The Group’s
exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the relevant notes.
Sensitivity analysis – interest rates

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates at the reporting date and the
stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period.
A 100 basis point increase or decrease is used because this represents management’s assessment of the possible change in
interest rates.
At reporting date, if interest rates had been 100 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s:
•

net profit would increase/decrease by $150,000 (2010: $270,000). This is mainly attributable to lower cash deposit
balances held in 2011 as compared to 2010.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased during the current period mainly due to increased cash deposits.
i)

Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The Group has adopted the policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties, as a means of mitigating the risk
of financial loss from defaults. The Group measures credit risk on a fair value basis.
The credit risk on financial assets of the Group which have been recognised on the Statement of Financial Position, other
than investment in shares, is generally the carrying amount, net of any allowances for doubtful debts. Equity investments
which are traded on organised stock markets will vary with market movements.
The Group has an exposure to gain or loss in the event counterparties fail to settle on derivative contracts with the Group.
At 30 June 2011, the Group had no exposure or commitments to any counterparty on derivative contracts (2010: Nil).
The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with
high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

j)

Liquidity risk management
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, who have built an appropriate
liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity
management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves by continuously
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Note 16 sets out
details of additional undrawn facilities that the Group has at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk.
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Liquidity and interest risk tables

The following table detail the consolidated entity’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
consolidated entity can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
Weighted average
effective interest rate
%
2011
Non-interest bearing
Variable interest rate instruments
Financial guarantee contracts

8.92
-

2010
Non-interest bearing
Variable interest rate instruments
Financial guarantee contracts

8.92
-

1 year or
less
$’000

1 to 5
years
$’000

More than
5 years
$’000

Total
$’000

8,997
15,525
-

18,905
-

-

8,997
34,430
-

24,522

18,905

-

43,427

7,165
-

3,699
-

-

7,165
3,669
-

7,165

3,699

-

10,864

At the year-end it was not probable that the counterparty to the financial guarantee contract will claim under the contract.
Consequently, the amount included above is nil.
The following table details the consolidated entity’s expected maturity for its financial assets. The tables below have been
drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned on
those assets except where the consolidated entity anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different period.
Weighted average
effective interest rate
%
2011
Non-interest bearing
Variable interest rate instruments
Fixed interest rate instruments
2010
Non-interest bearing
Variable interest rate instruments
Fixed interest rate instruments

4.45
-

3.73
-

1 year or
less
$’000

1 to 5
years
$’000

More than
5 years
$’000

Total
$’000

7,324
27,941
-

6,461
-

-

13,785
27,941
-

35,265

6,461

-

41,726

8,681
16,432
-

-

-

8,681
16,432
-

25,113

-

-

25,113

The Company’s loans to subsidiaries as at 30 June 2011 and 2010 are all interest free. Income tax is payable in Australia
on implied interest income from the Company’s loans to its Brazilian income generating subsidiary Reinarda Mineracao
Ltda, Brazilian law prohibits interest being charged to and remitted by associated companies.
k)

Commodity risk management
The Group is a gold producer and has exposure to the gold price. The Group operates so as to remain exposed to
fluctuations in the gold price as is the current industry practice. The Group does not have any gold hedging contracts, refer
(e) above.
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Sensitivity analysis – gold price

The sensitivity analysis below is based on the actual quantities of gold sold during the year and the stipulated price change.
2011
(A$’000)
Judgements of reasonably possible movements
Gold price +/- 50.00 AUD per ounce
- Post-tax profit higher/(lower)
- Total equity higher/(lower)

2,511
2,511

2010
(A$’000)

2,088
2,088

The movements in profit and equity in 2011 are similar to 2010 due to fairly comparable production levels.
l)

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities
The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the Financial Statements represents their
respective fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in Note 1 to the Accounts.
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents and interest and non-interest bearing monetary financial assets and financial
liabilities approximates their carrying value, with exception of the debt facility which had a carrying amount of
$29,089,000 (2010:$1,308,000) compared to a face value of $30,000,000 (2010: $3,000,000). The face value of the
debt equates to its fair value because it has a variable interest rate.
At 30 June 2011, inventories include 259 ounces (2010: 409 ounces) of refined gold bullion. This bullion is valued in the
Financial Statements at cost of $181,000 (2010: $413,000) (refer Note 9). This inventory would have had a market value
of $361,000 (2010: $593,868) based on a gold spot price of A$1,421 per ounce (2010: A$1,452/oz).

m)

Fair value measurements recognised in the Statement of Financial Position certain shares in listed entities
The consolidated entity holds certain shares in listed entities that are measured at fair value subsequent to initial
recognition. All such investments are classified as available-for-sale, and are valued based on the closing share price of the
listed share at the reporting date. The consolidated entity has no other financial instruments at either 30 June 2011 or
2010 that are measured at fair value.
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32. NOTES TO THE CASHFLOW STATEMENT
a)

Reconciliation of Cash
For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and
investments in interest bearing deposits. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash
Flow Statement is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

3,797
16,301
7,843

5,223
4,454
6,755

27,941

16,432

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

Operating profit/(loss) after income tax
Depreciation of non-current assets
Amortisation of non-current assets
Gain on sale of non-current assets
Exploration costs treated as investing activities
(Gain) on sale of other financial assets
(Gain) on sale of subsidiary
Foreign exchange gain on balances held
Hedging costs
Equity settled share-based payment
Interest income received and receivable
Non-cash interest expense
(Decrease)/Increase in income tax payable

14,634
8,525
16,389
62
5,390
(4,207)
(1,072)
167
525
(443)
765
(2,704)

(6,793)
7,907
7,085
(25)
6,993
(4,427)
(521)
(184)
36
560
(980)
6
(1,118)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/Decrease in current receivables
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories
Increase/(Decrease) in provisions
Increase/(Decrease) in payables

(2,147)
(4,239)
1,559
3,089

(10,981)
3,488
(809)
(969)

Net Cash generated by/(used in) operating activities

36,293

Cash at bank
Cash at bank – overseas
Interest-bearing deposits at call

b)

c)

Reconciliation of Net Cash provided by Operating Activities to Net Profit after Income Tax

Financing Facilities
Refer to Note 16 for details of available financing facilities.
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33. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES
a)

Financial Position
Accounting policies of the parent are consistent with that of the consolidated group.
2011
($’000)
Assets
Current assets
Non-current assets

18,309
147,104

14,788
133,265

Total assets

165,414

148,053

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

11,090
29,275

5,287
3,800

Total liabilities

40,365

9,087

125,048

138,966

97,596
35,377

96,022
40,536

Reserves
Investments mark to market
Option premium
Foreign exchange translation

(666)
4,146
(11,405)

2,428
3,719
(3,739)

Total equity

134,150

Financial Performance
(Loss)/Profit for the year after tax
Other comprehensive income

(1,640)
(10,333)

(3,039)
(744)

Total comprehensive income

(11,973)

(3,783)

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

Net Assets
Equity
Issued capital
Retained earnings

b)

2010
($’000)

138,966

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to debts of its subsidiaries

-

Guarantee provided under the deed of cross guarantee

-

Please refer Note 16 for details of the Group’s guarantee in regards its debt facility.
c)

Contingent liabilities of the parent entity

Bank guarantees – Government
Bank guarantees – General
General sureties – Government

2011
($’000)

2010
($’000)

2,663
83
175

2,663
86
175

2,921

2,924
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There are no contingent liabilities other than:
a) Bank Guarantees provided by financial institutions given to various State Departments of Mines and Petroleum and joint
venture partners to a total value of $2,663,125 (2010: $2,663,125). These are security amounts against breach of
environmental conditions and are not expected to be exercised in the normal course of business. General bank
guarantees to financial institutions $83,000 (2010: $86,000); and
b) General sureties given to various State Departments of Mines and Petroleum to a total value of $175,000 (2010:
$175,000). These are security amounts against breach of environmental conditions and are not expected to be
exercised in the normal course of business.
Commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment, by the parent entity

2011
($’000)
Plant and equipment
Not longer than 1 year
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years
Longer than 5 years

83
-

2010
($’000)

7
-

34. ADDITIONAL COMPANY INFORMATION
Troy Resources NL is a public company, incorporated and operating in Australia with subsidiary companies operating in South
America.
Registered Office
44 Ord Street
West Perth
Western Australia 6005
Tel: (08) 9481 1277
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The directors declare that:
a)

In the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and
when they become due and payable;

b)

The attached financial statements are in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as stated in Note 1
to the financial statements;

c)

In the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the financial position and
performance of the consolidated entity; and

d)

The directors have been given the declarations required by s.295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the Directors of Troy Resources NL

D DIX
Non-Executive Chairman

P BENSON
CEO & Managing Director

Perth, Western Australia
29 September 2011
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 490 121 060
Woodside Plaza
Level 14
240 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000
GPO Box A46
Perth WA 6837 Australia
Tel: +61 (0) 8 9365 7000
Fax: +61 (0) 8 9365 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

Independent Auditor’s Report
to the members of Troy Resources NL
Report on the Financial Report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Troy Resources NL, which comprises the
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2011, the statement of comprehensive income, the cash
flow statement and the statement of changes in equity for the year ended on that date, notes
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the
directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity, comprising the company and the entities it controlled
at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year as set out on pages 19 to 75.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1, the
directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial
Statements, that the consolidated financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control, relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view, in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001,
which has been given to the directors of Troy Resources NL, would be in the same terms if given to the
directors as at the time of this auditor’s report.
Opinion
In our opinion:
(a) the financial report of Troy Resources NL is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2011
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and
(b) the consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards as disclosed in Note 1.
Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 8 to 16 of the directors’ report for the
year ended 30 June 2011. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and
presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act
2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.
Opinion
In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Troy Resources NL for the year ended 30 June 2011,
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Ross Jerrard
Partner
Chartered Accountants
Perth, 29 September 2011
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
A.B.N. 74 490 121 060
Woodside Plaza

Auditor’s Report in Respect of
Compatibility with Canadian GAAS

Level 14
240 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000
GPO Box A46
Perth WA Australia
DX 206
Tel: +61 (0) 8 9365 7000
Fax: +61 (0) 8 9365 7001

To the Members of Troy Resources NL
In accordance with the requirement contained in National Instrument 52-107 we report below on
the compatibility of Canadian Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (“Canadian GAAS”) and
International Standards on Auditing.
We conducted our audit for the year ended 30 June 2011 in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing. There are no material differences in the form or content of our report
(except as noted below) as compared to an auditor’s report prepared in accordance with Canadian
GAAS and if this report was prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAS it would not contain a
reservation.
In Canada, reporting standards for auditors require that an auditor’s opinion state that the
consolidated financial statements of the company present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the consolidated entity and its results of operations and cash flows. In
Australia, reporting standards for auditors require that an auditor’s opinion state that the
consolidated financial statements of the company give a true and fair view of the state of the
consolidated entity’s affairs and of its profit for the year.
In Australia, the Corporations Act 2001 requires that the auditor express an opinion on the
Remuneration Report as to compliance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. In
Canada, there is no requirement for a Remuneration Report and accordingly no requirement for
the auditor to opine on that report.
In all other respects, there are no material differences in the form and content of the above noted
auditor’s report.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
Perth, Australia
29 September 2011

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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CORPORATE DIRECTORY
Directors

Stock Exchanges For Quoted Securities

David R Dix (Non-Executive Chairman)
Paul Benson (CEO)
Ken K Nilsson (COO)
Gordon R Chambers
Frederick S Grimwade
John L C Jones
C Robin W Parish

Australian Stock Exchange
Fully Paid
TRY

Company Secretary
David R Sadgrove

Executive Committee
Paul Benson (CEO)
Peter J Doyle (VP Exp & Bus Dev)
Ken K Nilsson (COO)
David R Sadgrove (CFO)

Registered Office
44 Ord Street
West Perth, Western Australia 6005
Telephone (61 8) 9481 1277
Facsimile (61 8) 9321 8237
Email
troy@troyres.com.au
Web site www.troyres.com.au

Argentina Office
Troy Resources Argentina Ltd
Fray Mamerto Esquiú 304 - Oeste
San Juan, Argentina
CP: J540 2BGH
Telephone: (54 264) 427 7035
Facsimile: (54 264) 427 7022

Toronto Stock Exchange
Fully Paid
TRY

Share Registry
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
Yarra Falls, 452 Johnston Street
Abbotsford, Victoria 3067 Australia
GPO Box 2975, Melbourne, Victoria 3001
Telephone (03) 9415 5000
Facsimile (03) 9473 2500
Investor inquiries within Australia
1300 850 505
Investor inquiries outside Australia
(61 3) 9415 5000

Bankers
National Australia Bank Limited
Investec Bank (Australia) Limited

Auditor
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Woodside Plaza, Level 14
240 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000

Legal Representative
Gilbert + Tobin
1202 Hay Street
West Perth WA 6005

Ken Nilsson
Director of Operations and General Manager

Brazil Office
Rua Nove, 442 - Centro
Rio Maria, PA
CEP 68530-000
Brazil
Andrew Storrie
Operation Manager, Brazil
Augusto Mol
Director – Exploration South America
Telephone/Facsimile (55) 94 3428 1621

Troy Board Visit Brazil May 2011: Andrew Storrie (Brazil Operations
Manager) and Frederick Grimwade (Non-Exec Director).

TROY RESOURCES NL
44 Ord Street, West Perth WA 6005
Telephone: (61 8) 9481 1277
Facsimile: (61 8) 9321 8237
Email:
troy@troyres.com.au

www.troyres.com.au

